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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATING TO THE SAFE HARBOR PROVISIONS OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES

LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

This Annual Report on Form 10K contains statements relating to expected future results and business trends that are based

upon our current estimate expectations and projections about the industry and upon our beliefs and certain assumptions we have

made that are forward-looking statements as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Words such as

anticipates guidance expects intends plans believes seeks estimates maywill prospects outlook

forecast and variations of these words or similar expressions are intended to identifr forward-looking statements In addition

any statements that refer to expectations projections or other characterizations of future events or circumstances including any

underlying assumptions are forward-looking statements Such statements are not guarantees of future performance and are

subject to certain risks uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict Therefore our actual results may differ

materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statement as result of various factors These factors

include but are not limited to the timely introduction of new products demand for and market acceptance of new and existing

fingerprint sensors in the PC and wireless markets our ability to secure design wins and these design wins leading to future

production the adoption of our sensors in other applications outside of PC notebooks and wireless devices the rate at which we

increase our activity and opportunities in the wireless market changes in product mix the actions of existing or future

competitors the impact of litigation and the impact of the macroeconomic trends on our served markets as well as other risks

detailed from time to time in our SEC filings These forward-looking statements are made only as of the date hereof and we

undertake no obligation to update or revise the forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future

events or otherwise

PART

Item Business

Company Overview

We are leading mixed-signal semiconductor company providing fmgerprint authentication sensors and solutions to the

PC wireless device and other markets Over the past several years the fingerprint sensor market has experienced growth driven

by the proliferation of mobile computing and wireless communication devices These devices store an increasing amount of

sensitive and valuable personal and corporate data yet are highly vulnerable to loss theft intrusion and fraud In light of these

vulnerabilities the enhanced security features provided by our solutions have become increasingly important We believe our

products which are based on our patented TruePrint technology are the most accurate reliable cost-effective easy to use and

versatile products commercially available today Unlike most competing sensor technologies which read the skins surface layer

our TruePrint technology is capable of obtaining high-density images from fingers under virtually any condition by reading the

live layer below the skins surface

Since our inception in 1998 we have shipped over 44 million sensors which have been integrated into over 250 different

models of laptops desktops and PC peripherals as well as over million mobile phones In response to increased demand we

shipped over 17.7 million sensor units in 2008 39% increase over the 12.7 million sensor units we shipped in 2007

Correspondingly our revenue increased over the same period from $52.3 million in 2007 to $63.9 million in 2008 22%

increase In the fourth quarter of 2008 we experienced sequential decline in revenue as compared to the third quarter 2008 as

customer demand was impacted by weakening macroeconomic conditions We expect the weakened macroeconomic conditions to

continue in 2009 which will adversely impact our revenue

In the last two years we generated revenue from approximately 50 customers including some of the worlds leading PC

and wireless device manufacturers and their suppliers These companies have included Acer Inc ASUSTeK Computer Inc Dell

Inc Fujitsu Ltd Hewlett-Packard Company High Tech Computer Corp Lenovo Group Limited LG Electronics Inc Samsung

Electronics Co Ltd and Toshiba Corporation

We believe we are well positioned to benefit from the continuous drive of our customers to add features to and enhance the

functionality of their products including the demand for integrated and convenient security solutions Our research development

and marketing efforts are focused on the following markets which are characterized by significant unit volumes

PCs laptops desktops and PC peripheral products such as memory keys hard drives keyboards mice and other

devices and

Wireless devices cellular phones and other wireless communication devices including personal digital assistants or

PDAs
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Since 2004 the use of fingerprint sensors has been embraced by customers worldwide Our sensors are used to secure the

PC and data stored on it as well as to replace passwords used to access networks or websites We estimate that approximately 15-

20% of laptops shipped in 2008 contained an integrated fingerprint sensor After growing rapidly we believe attach rates in 2008

were consistent with 2007 as result of the macro-economic slowdown and higher growth in sales of lower-cost laptops with

fewer features

Wireless device manufacturers in certain countries particularly in Japan have incorporated our sensors into their products in

order to support security M-commerce applications and touch control navigation features M-commerce is the use of wireless

device for personal financial transactions including credit or debit transactions In addition wireless device customers are

leveraging the capabilities of our sensors for touch-based navigation and for securing contact lists photos documents and other

stored files

Our TruePrint technology uses radio-frequency or RF signals to read below the skins outer surface layer to the live layer

of skin TruePrint produces high-quality high-density fingerprint images from which large amounts of information can then be

extracted to uniquely identif the individual We believe TruePrint enables our solutions to work for the largest number of

possible end users under the widest variety of conditions This technology also allows us to build sensors that use less silicon than

competing silicon-based technologies making our solution well suited for our target markets where small form factor and cost are

critical determinants

Our TrueMatch matching algorithms and TrueFinger anti-spoofing technologies use this information to rapidly identif an

individual in highly accurate and secure fashion We also offer device level software documentation and applications support as

an integrated and bundled solution thus making it easier for our customers to integrate our products into their own

In addition to the convenient security features of our products we provide several other product capabilities and

enhancements under our Power of Touch initiative These include TrueNav navigation feature that allows the sensor to be

used for cursor control and TrueYou personalization feature that allows each finger to be used for specific function using for

example each finger for separate speed dial on phone or for launching specific PC application We believe the convergence

of security navigation personalization and convenience enables our customers to efficiently create products that are more secure

attractive innovative and easier to use We are continuing to expand our product portfolio by offering additional features and

functionality specific to our target markets

Our headquarters is located in Melbourne Florida and we have development centers in Melbourne Florida and Shanghai

China We also have sales and application engineering offices in several locations throughout the United States Europe and Asia

to service our global customer base We had 130 full-time employees world wide as of January 2009 of which over 80% were

in research and development and selling and marketing

Industry Overview

The Increasing Need for Authentication

The increasing proliferation of portable computing and communications devices including laptop PCs and wireless devices

has been driven by improvements in computing power battery life performance communications infrastructure and decreases in

cost and size There has been corresponding growth in the amount of electronic data accessed and exchanged due to the

increasing number of applications that manage manipulate store transmit and secure such information as well as those that

facilitate E- and M-commerce Businesses and consumers increasingly use variety of devices including PCs and wireless

devices to store and transmit sensitive data electronically These devices are generally shipped with minimal authentication

protection if any and can be easily manipulated by unauthorized users should the devices be lost or stolen

Effective identification and authentication systems controlling access to sensitive information are critical to the safety and

integrity of data transactions and communications Security breaches and frauds resulting from failures in authentication and

identification systems can cause economic harm for individuals and corporations and has become chief concern for businesses

and consumers alike Today the primary method of protecting and securing electronic information is through the use of

passwords The average person must remember multiple passwords and regularly uses common identifiers such as maiden names

and birthdays as passwords These types of passwords are not foolproof and can be relatively easy to copy lose forget or have

stolen As result of poor computer security and the proliferation of mobile electronic devices used to store large amounts of

information including databases of customer profiles with personally identifiable information the potential for corporate data

breach that results in consumer identity theft is increasing According to PrivacyRights.org over 246 million personal information

records were reported as compromised due to data device loss theft or hacking from January 2005 through December 2008 In

addition the lost business of disconcerted customers escalating legal and PR expenses and other costs associated with breaches

are costing companies millions of dollars each year Recent research conducted by the Ponemon Institute found the cost of data
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breach averaging $197 per record compromised or an average total of over $6 million per
breach For the third year research by

The Ponemon Institute revealed the average cost of data breach continued to rise growing 43% since 2005

Our Target Markets

To respond to more electronically oriented and mobile society we expect that our customers will increasingly demand

security and authentication technologies that provide their end users with confidence that their sensitive personal and corporate

information will not be compromised To achieve this goal we believe device manufacturers will require the integration of

fmgerprint sensor technologies into their products that are low-cost reliable accurate fast convenient small in size and capable

of reading fingerprints under virtually any condition Our target markets include

PCs The PC market particularly laptops currently represents the largest market segment using fmgerprint sensors

Demand for our PC products is being driven by the need for increased security to protect personal and corporate data

stored on the PC and the networks to which it connects and by the convenience of replacing logins and passwords

with the simple swipe of fmger According to IDC leading market research and analysis firm approximately

143 million laptops were shipped worldwide in 2008 Of this amount we believe approximately 15-20% of laptops

had an integrated fmgerprint sensor consistent with attach rates in 2007 Weakening macroeconomic conditions have

accelerated the growth in sales of lower-cost laptops including netbooks Lower-cost laptops have typically not

included fingerprint sensor as standard feature as compared to more expensive and feature-rich laptops We are

taking certain actions including development of new lower-cost products to attempt to increase penetration of the

lower-cost laptop market

Although the adoption of fmgerprint sensors has been somewhat limited in desktop PCs and PC peripherals these

additional markets represent significant opportunities for our products We estimate that these two markets represent

over 500 millionunits shipped in 2008

Wireless Devices We believe the integration of fmgerprint sensors into wireless devices is in its early stages and will

accelerate consistent with the adoption rates of other wireless device features that first found acceptance in the

Japanese market such as camera functionality internet access and mobile television According to IDC the

worldwide mobile phone market grew from 1.14 billion units shipped in 2007 to 1.17 billion units shipped in

2008 The segment of the mobile phone market with the largest attach rate of fingerprint sensors smart phones

grew 23% in unit shipments from 2007 clearly outpacing the rest of the industry according to IDC We believe the

demand for our products will grow as mobile phone manufacturers and mobile phone users discover the multi-

functional benefits of our fmgerprint sensors beyond the convenient security they provide More mobile phone

manufacturers are leveraging the personalization features of our sensors which associate different phone functions

and applications with different fingers and the touch-powered navigation features offered by our products

In addition to these target markets our products are used in physical access control products including door locks smart

cards and other devices

Biometrics Market Background

Biometrics is the process
of gathering and processing certain set of physical or behavioral characteristics in order to

identify an individual Government and law enforcement agencies were the first to develop and adopt biometric technologies with

focus on fingerprint biometrics In the United States law enforcement agencies have long used both manual and electronic

methods for collecting and comparing fmgerprints Other countries have similar systems which have been used for variety of

purposes from criminal background checks to voter registration Today there are several types of biometric alternatives including

fmgerprint iris scan voice authentication retina scan hand geometry and facial scan These alternatives provide varying levels of

identification and authentication success For example iris scan and retina scan technologies have been adopted but are generally

expensive and require significant amount of equipment to deploy the solution As result these technologies are being used on

limited basis and primarily in lower volume governmental law enforcement or physical access control applications Other

biometric alternatives such as facial recognition have proven to be inexpensive but vulnerable to spoofing or hacking Some

laptop PC models offer facial recognition technology by using the integrated PC webcam to record an image of the face of PC

user and compare it to the previously enrolled image for authentication purposes

The International Biometrics Group IBG estimates that global biometric revenue will grow from approximately $3.42

billion in 2009 to $9.37 billion in 2014 driven in part by government identity management and border management programs

Fingerprinting is expected to gain 46% of the non-Automated Fingerprint Identification System non-AFIS biometrics market in

2009 followed by face recognition at 19% and iris recognition at 8%

Fingerprint Biometrics Market

In the 990s electronic fmgerprint scanners were developed to replace ink and paper-based systems and primarily used

optical technologies to image the patterns on the surface of the finger and convert those patterns into images of the fmgerprint
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These technologies were sometimes not able to acquire useful data from people with imperfections in their fmger skin such as dry

thickly callused or worn smooth fingerprints The cost size and performance issues associated with these early technologies gave

rise to semiconductor-based sensors as companies began to explore the commercial application of fingerprint authentication In

addition to our TruePrint technology there are now several types of semiconductor-based fingerprint technologies in the market

such as DC and RF capacitive However we believe these other technologies are limited by their reliance on reading the surface

of the finger Although generally lower in cost and smaller in size than the predecessor optical fingerprint scanners these

competitive sensor technologies often suffer the same surface-related performance issues

The silicon fingerprint sensor market is sub-segment of the global fingerprint biometrics market and includes sensors

based on various technologies of varying capabilities size and cost Over the past several years
the fingerprint sensor market has

experienced growth driven by the proliferation of mobile computing and wireless communication devices

With the recent macroeconomic downturn we are experiencing refraction in this market We believe that by offering the

right products and with an improvement in the macroeconomic conditions this market will return to growth According to report

from Frost Sullivan published in September 2008 the worldwide market for non-AFIS fingerprint sensors in notebook PCs and

the wireless devices was valued at $148.5 million in 2007 and is expected to reach $1.59 billion by 2014

The silicon fingerprint sensor market the market in which we operate comprises two different types of products touch and

swipe sensors Touch or area sensors are generally larger and more costly than swipe sensors Users of touch sensors place their

finger on the sensor Swipe sensors are generally smaller and less costly and involve the user swiping their finger across the

sensor Swipe sensors have become the more dominant form factor over the past few years and now represent significant

majority of sensors shipped

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe the following competitive strengths will enable us to maintain leading position in the fingerprint biometric

market

Proprietary and Proven Advanced Technology Platform While other fingerprint technologies generally read only the

surface layer of the skin our patented TruePrint technology is able to read the live layer of skin below the skins outer surface By

reading the live layer we are able to produce high density and accurate image of the skin under virtually any condition

regardless of changing environments and finger conditions Our TrueMatch matching algorithms use these higher quality images

to accurately and securely match the user process which we believe is one of the most accurate and secure matching capabilities

available in the market today Our proprietary technologies are protected by 47 issued U.S patents and 27 U.S patent

applications

Low-Cost Advantage As result of our TruePrint and TrueMatch technologies we believe our sensors use less silicon as

compared to other commercially available semiconductor-based solutions We believe this provides us with cost advantage over

our competitors We operate fabless manufacturing model and utilize standard high volume fabrication processes allowing us

to take full advantage of the cost reduction and yield enhancements associated with these processes

Comprehensive Fingerprint Authentication Solutions We offer comprehensive solutions optimized for our target market

Our solutions include the sensors algorithms software and reference designs that allow our customers to easily integrate our

solutions into their products By using our solutions our customers benefit from improved time-to-market and reduced

development costs

Multiple Products Targetedfor High Volume End Markets As result of being focused semiconductor company we have

introduced 16 products tailored specifically to our target markets Our products include some of the smallest fingerprint sensors

available in the market critical consideration for many of our customers

Strong Relationships With Leading Global PC and Wireless Device Manufacturers We have developed collaborative

relationships with leading customers worldwide These relationships enable us to work with our customers and tailor our solutions

to fit into their research and development efforts We have support offices in North America Europe and Asia to provide our

global customers with convenient local sales and technical support

Increased Functionality With the Power of Touch In addition to the convenient security aspects of our products our sensor

solutions also provide other features such as TrueNav and TrueYou TrueNav allows the sensor to be used as touchpad or

joystick type device where the sensor tracks the motion of the finger By controlling the cursor with the finger the sensor can be

used to augment or replace the four way rocker switches generally found on wireless or other small form factor devices

TrueYou allows the sensor to be used to personalize or customize customers product Capitalizing on the fact that each

fmgerprint is unique each fmger can represent different function For example in PC each finger can launch different

application or website In mobile phone each finger can be used as separate speed dial With the Power of Touch customers

can add additional features and functions to their own products with the potential to also reduce overall costs
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Our Growth Strategy

We intend to maintain and extend our leadership in the fingerprint sensor market by pursuing the following strategies

Increase Penetration of the Lower-cost PC Market The global macroeconomic downturn has accelerated the growth in

sales of lower-cost PCs including netbooks According to IDC the netbook portion of the PC market grew to 10 million units in

2008 and is expected to double in 2009 The fingerprint sensor attach rate in lower-cost PCs is lower relative to more expensive

feature rich models To increase penetration of the lower-cost PC market we are focusing development efforts on lower cost

fingerprint sensors and client application software tailored for use in this growing portion of the PC market

Increase Penetration of the Wireless Market The adoption of fingerprint sensors in wireless products has been somewhat

limited outside of Japan We believe that market growth in smart phones that are capable of storing more personal and business

information are helping to drive increased global demand for more convenient security Beyond security we are expanding our

multi-functional capabilities of our sensors and promoting other Power of Touch features such as personalization and navigation

In addition we are focused on improving the durability and aesthetics of our sensors for wireless devices though continued

development of our new TouchStone packaging

Continue to Enhance the Functionality of Our Products Our current product offering provides our customers with an

accurate reliable cost-effective versatile and secure solution Our products provide several security features including the

protection of hardware and data the replacement of passwords and the enablement of E- and M-commerce Our products allow

for personalization of device such as the ability to use different fingerprints to launch different applications In addition our

products can be used for navigation in which the sensor can be used for cursor control We believe our sensor technologies will

increasingly be used to replace button technologies on wireless handsets and other small form factor devices We plan to continue

to provide solutions that offer enhanced security innovation and convenience for our customers as we believe it is critical to

achieving increased market penetration

Pursue Selective Acquisitions of Complementary Technologies or Companies We intend to evaluate and potentially make

acquisitions of technologies and products that are complementary to our product portfolio Our semiconductor solution is based on

highly advanced technology and we believe we are capable of integrating certain ancillary technologies into our solution in order

to broaden our product portfolio functionality and accelerate growth and entry into new markets In early 2008 we acquired

software product suite to use as foundation for the development of our TrueSuite PC client application which we believe will

improve the ease of use of PCs equipped with our fingerprint sensors

Continue to Maintain LowCost Leadership We believe we currently offer one of the smallest commercially available

fingerprint sensors at the lowest cost in the industry We believe this is critical attribute for our current customers and will help

enable further proliferation of our fingerprint sensors into products in other markets Our management and engineering teams have

significant experience reducing product costs We intend to preserve our low-cost advantages by seeking to improve our design

process and packaging techniques integrating additional functionality into our existing solutions and leveraging our fabless

manufacturing model as our shipments increase

Products

We design develop and sell mixed-signal fingerprint sensor semiconductors primarily used in the PC and wireless device

markets We offer broad range of fmgerprint sensors that enable users to securely and easily access and control multiple

functions on an electronic device by touching or sliding their finger across the sensor Our fingerprint sensors utilize unique

information in fingerprints to verify both the identity of the individual as well as the unique individual fingers on the same

person Our solutions capture an image of the fingerprint extract unique information from it and save it as template

mathematical representation of the fingerprint image Subsequently the information is compared to that from future template to

determine if it is the same finger

Because our fingerprint sensors can accurately and consistently identify individual fingers we can use our sensors in

multiple applications related to security password replacement financial transaction authentication and personalization

applications within our target markets Our sensors also can track the relative location of ones finger movement and thus can be

used as form of cursor control functionality valued in smaller form factor device where we can replace four way mechanical

switch We refer to this ability to use our sensors for such wide variety of tasks as the Power of Touch With the Power of

Touch our customers can use our sensors to add number of value-added features to their own products In the PC this may

include network log on password replacement parental control fast user switching and quick applications access menu scrolling

and other features that differentiate their products and improve the user experience In the cell phone in addition to the items

noted for the PC other added capabilities include using the sensor for cursor control which replaces the mechanical switch

commerce authentication and speed dial capabilities where each finger is associated with different number

Our products are used in wide range
of PC products and related peripherals including laptops desktops memory keys

hard drives keyboards mice and other devices Our products have also been integrated into number of wireless devices
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including mobile phones PDAs and personal navigation devices PNDs as well as access control devices such as door locks time

and attendance devices and remote wireless entry keys

We offer complete client-level solution to our customers including the sensors matching algorithms and device level

software device drivers algorithms and applications programming interfaces and PC client applications along with complete

set of documentation and application support In addition to internally developed software included in our products we support

third-party software vendors whose products interact with our sensor products

We currently provide fingerprint sensor products to three major markets

PCs The AES4000 AES3400 AES2501 AES161O and AES281O series of touch and swipe sensors are designed for

integration into laptops desktops and PC peripherals These devices enable both security and convenience features and can be

found in products sold into the business and consumer markets

In 2008 we released the AES281O which we believe offers highly secure biometric PC user authentication This match-on-

sensor delivers high level of security at the price of single-chip solution The AES28 10 features hardware that permits users to

store and retrieve variety of credentials and personal information while protecting such sensitive information in two important

ways the user fingerprint data is encrypted over the wire and the users credentials are stored and retrieved from encrypted

hardware storage

In 2009 we expect to introduce new small and lower cost sensor for the PC market codenamed Marcy tailored for the

growing portion of the lower-cost laptop market including netbooks

Wireless Devices Our AES251O AES151O AES171O and AES17I1 families of swipe sensors are designed for

integration into mobile phones and other wireless communications devices These devices enable both security and variety of

convenience features used today worldwide in full featured mobile phones

In 2008 we released the AES 1711 which improves the power consumption associated with the touchto-wake feature of

the sensor improving handset standby time requirements and maximizing battery charging cycles Additionally the AES 1711

provides dual voltage 110 operation for use in lower-cost handsets This sensor also has highly durable coating to enhance its

robustness in outside-the-case applications

During 2009 we expect to introduce new sensor for the wireless market codenamed Rogers which is designed to be

lower-cost lower-power device that leverages the advantages for our new TouchStone packaging We expect our TouchStone

packaging to provide improved sensor durability and multiple color options for the customer

Access Control Our AFS2 and AFS8600 series of sensors are designed for integration into wide range of access control

applications including physical access control systems and time and attendance devices These touch sensors can be used in

applications that provide secure physical access control in corporate and home environments

Technology

Fingerprint biometrics use unique information in fingerprints to verify the identity of individuals Fingerprint sensors and

the associated solutions capture an image of the fingerprint extract unique information from it and save it as template

template is mathematical representation of the unique information extracted Subsequently the template information is

compared to that from future image to determine if it is the same finger Typical fingerprint sensors observe or interact with the

surface of finger to form an image of the fingerprint Such methods can be sensitive to finger wear damage and contamination

of the skin surface resulting in interference that degrades the quality and amount of information that can be used for verification

The performance of these systems thus varies according to the condition of individual fingers which can be affected by factors

such as occupation age ethnicity contamination and climate Certain technologies can create poor user experience as the

system cannot obtain enough information for adequate verification resulting in the user being incorrectly and inconveniently

rejected Alternatively certain technologies can result in poor security as the system has less information to use thereby

increasing the probability that an imposter could be falsely verified

Our sensors are based on our proprietary core technologies and are supported by software components from the driver

framework to the client application software

TruePrint Our technology was developed to address the concerns of previous technologies and provide low- cost

convenient effective and secure method for verification that is effective under virtually any condition Skin has distinct layers that

separate the underlying tissue from the environment On the surface is layer of dead skin cells that are formed in the shape of the

fingerprint pattern On the inside is layer of living cells that regenerate the skins surface as it wears down This live inside layer

is where the shape of the fingerprint pattern originates and is separated from the dead skin by an electrically conductive fluid

layer TruePrint works by coupling small RF signal into the finger once the finger is placed on the sensor The RF signal couples

with the conductive fluid layer forming two dimensional field between the finger and the silicon sensor The strength of the
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field is modulated by the shape of the conductive fluid layer and thus mimics the shape of the fingerprint pattern An array of tiny

antenna plates combined with instrumentation amplifiers signal processing and data acquisition circuits inside the sensor sense

the strength of the field and convert it into digital data corresponding to the image of the fingerprint pattern Because the image

originates from the shape of the live layer it is much less affected by surface conditions of the finger such as wear dirt

contamination and moisture Since TruePrint technology is an active system controlling both the transmissions of the RF signal

and the receivers it can adapt the tuning of both components to obtain the best quality image for different fingers and

environments

TrueMatch Once captured the digital fingerprint image from TruePrint is analyzed by our TrueMatch technology

TrueMatch is our patented algorithm technology for extracting and matching unique information from fingerprint The

technology typically runs in software on the host processor attached to the fingerprint reader The combination of TruePrint and

TrueMatch technologies allows us to acquire large amount of unique information from veiy small area of the finger enabling

us to significantly reduce the surface area and hence the silicon cost of our products Unlike many alternative algorithms which

often use minutiae data and require larger images to perform acceptably TrueMatch uses combination of global and local

features in the fmgerprint image to maximize the information density TrueMatch also incorporates patented compositing

techniques to build fmgerprint template over time that is physically larger than single image obtained from the sensor This is

essential for the convenient operation of small sensor and eliminates the need for the user to accurately position finger in the

same place each time Compositing also allows the template to be dynamically updated with new information during normal use

thus improving ease of use overtime TruePrints high quality images and TrueMatchs high accuracy algorithms have allowed us

to develop one of the smallest fingerprint sensors commercially available

TrueFinger TrueFinger dynamically adapts the TrueMatch circuits to measure certain properties of finger skin placed on

the sensor while the fmger is being scanned These properties are used to help differentiate between real fingers and fake fingers

often referred to as anti-spoofing TrueFinger converts the properties of the skin into digital data which are then sent to the host

computer for analysis by TrueMatch TrueMatch compares the data with expected properties to ensure fingerprint authentication

TrueNav TrueNav uses the high quality image capabilities of TruePrint to track the motion of finger placed on the sensor

Motion is tracked and processed to create two dimensional direction vectors which are then used by the display system on the host

to control the motion of an on screen cursor TrueNav uses combination of silicon circuitry and software with techniques to

minimize the amount of power consumed by the silicon This is important for mobile applications where frequent use of cursor

navigation would otherwise drain the battery

True You TrueYou takes advantage of each fingers uniqueness and allows for the programming of different functions on

device based on which finger is used This might include each finger launching different application or being used to speed dial

phone number

TouchStone Unlike most semiconductor integrated circuit products our fingerprint sensors are visible in consumer devices

and must be designed to account for durability ergonomic and aesthetic requirements TouchStone is highly durable thin profile

fingerprint sensor packaging technology which expands aesthetic and product integration options for makers of cell phones

laptops and other consumer electronics TouchStone enables new class of fmgerprint sensors that combine all the features of our

patented TruePrint technology with thin durable easy to integrate waterproof packaging for todays stylistic cell phone designs

Seffing and Marketing

We sell our products worldwide through multiple channels including our international direct sales force and our network of

independent sales representatives and distributors Each of these sales channels is supported by our customer service and

marketing organizations We have customer service personnel in Melbourne Florida and Taiwan Our sales and application

engineering offices are in the United States Germany Taiwan China South Korea and Japan We will expand our sales and

technical support capabilities in key regions as necessary

Our sales organization engages directly with all major customers and is instrumental to the design process Our direct sales

force is supplemented with independent sales representatives and distributors who have been selected based on their

understanding of our target markets technical knowledge and relationships with our target customers Our sales representatives

and distributors include ActiveComp Electronic Arrow Electronics Inc GMBH BAE Sales Inc Centaur Corporation

Clearconini Technical Sales hc Concord Marketing International Creston Technology Group Edom Technology Co Ltd HB

Corporation High Technology Sales Association Marubun Corporation New Tech Solutions Inc ODonnell Associates

Parallax Sales Richpower Electronic Devices Co Ltd Sales Engineering Concepts and Westmark-Compass Inc Sales in

conjunction with our sales representatives accounted for substantially all of our revenue in 2008 and 2007

Our sales cycle can vary widely and is dependent on the specific customers research and development cycle The sales

cycle requires significant investment in time resources and engineering support before realization of income from product sales

if at all
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Our marketing group is responsible for market analysis and product definition and is focused on capitalizing on market

opportunities This group works closely with our product research and development groups to align development programs and

product launches with our OEM customers schedules Additionally this group is responsible for the production and

dissemination of sales and marketing materials such as product announcements press releases brochures magazine articles

advertisements and cover features in trade journals and other publications We also participate in public relations and promotional

events including industry tradeshows and technical conferences

As of January 2009 we had 26 full time employees in our selling and marketing group

Customers

We prrncipally sell our products either directly or through distributors to OEMs ODMs and contract manufacturers

ODMs and contract manufacturers typically design and manufacture products to sell to OEMs The primary markets utilizing our

products and services are PCs served by large PC OEMs such as Acer ASUSTek Fujitsu Dell Hewlett-Packard Lenovo and

Toshiba and wireless device OEMs such as Acer ASUSTek Casio-Hitachi Mobile Fujitsu Medion Corporation and Microsoft

We work with these and other OEMs to understand their requirements and provide them with solutions which they then qualify

and in some cases specify for use within their systems We sell our products with standard warranty provisions for defects in

materials workmanship and product performance At our option defective products may be returned for their purchase price or

for replacement In 2008 Inventec Corporation Compal Electronics and Fujitsu constituted 18% 14% and 13% of our revenue

respectively in 2007 19% 15% and 23% of our revenue respectively and in 2006 14% 19% and 32% of our revenue

respectively Compal Electronics and Inventec Corporation supply Hewlett-Packard among others We sell some of our products

through network of distributors Our distributors are independent entities that assist us in identifying and servicing OEMs and

generally purchase our products directly from us for resale to OEMs ODMs or contract manufacturers In general our distributors

exclusively service particular region or customer base and purchase our products through purchase orders that may be cancelled

or rescheduled Our distributors may also act as sales representatives and receive commissions on sales of our products In 2008

two of our distributors Richpower Electronic Devices and Edom Technology accounted for 5%and 11% of our revenue

respectively in 2007 24% and 5% of our revenue respectively and in 2006 6% and 2% of our revenue respectively

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate semiconductor fabrication wafer bumping assembly or test facilities We depend on third-party

subcontractors to fabricate assemble and test our fingerprint sensor products By outsourcing manufacturing we are able to avoid

the cost associated with owning and operating our own manufacturing facility This allows us to focus our efforts on the design

and marketing of our products

Semiconductor Fabrication We currently outsource most of our semiconductor fabrication to TSMC With our AuthenTec

Shanghai Company Limited subsidiary co-located within TSMCs Shanghai China fabrication facility our production planning

and engineering teams are able to work closely with TSMC personnel to forecast on weekly basis our manufacturing capacity

requirements Our fingerprint sensors are currently fabricated in several advanced sub-micron manufacturing processes in TSMC

fabrication facilities located in Taiwan and China which allows for significant capacity along with geographic diversity Because

finer manufacturing processes lead to enhanced performance smaller silicon chip size and lower power requirements we

continually evaluate the benefits and feasibility of migrating to smaller geometry process technologies in order to reduce cost and

improve performance Our engineers work closely with TSMC to increase yields lower manufacturing costs and improve quality

We may eventually qualify and retain additional foundries to manufacture our products in the future

Wafer Bumping Our products are shipped from TSMC to third-party wafer bumping facility Bumping is the application

of thin layer of metal to hermetically seal the bond pads on the wafer and to add the drive ring on certain of our sensors We

outsource most of the wafer gold bumping of our products to Chipbond in Taiwan which is one of the largest providers of such

subcontract services in the world

Assembly and Test We outsource all assembly and testing of our products to subcontractors Signetics in South Korea and

ChipMOS in Taiwan Our products are designed to use low cost packages and to be tested with widely available test equipment

We intend to qualify and retain additional assembly and test subcontractors in the future to meet our capacity and diversity

requirements

Quality Assurance We are committed to maintaining the highest level of quality in our fmgerprint sensors We have

designed and implemented quality management system that we believe provides the framework for continual improvement of

products processes and customer service We also rely on in-depth simulation studies testing and practical application testing to

validate and verify our semiconductors To help ensure consistent product quality reliability and yield we work closely with our

manufacturing logistics partners to monitor the production cycle by reviewing manufacturing process
data from each wafer

foundry and assembly subcontractor All of our supply chain subcontractors hold ISO 9000/14000 in addition to Sony Green

Partner quality certifications
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Research and Development

We devote substantial resources to the research and development of new products that enhance our competitive position

and provide increased value We continue to increase our product performance by driving improvements in all aspects of our

technologies and products Such improvements include the development of cost effective sensors that maintain strong biometric

accuracy as well as the incorporation of security capabilities that support end-to-end system security Our developments also

include efforts to substantially improve the usability and convenience of our products by making them simple and easy to use In

2008 2007 and 2006 we had research and development expenses of$l6.5 million $12.9 million and $9.6 million respectively

As of January 2009 we had 83 employees in our research and development group

Intellectual Property

We seek to protect our intellectual property rights with combination of patents trademarks copyrights trade secret laws

and disclosure restrictions We rely primarily on trade secrets technical know-how and other unpatented proprietary information

relating to our design and product development activities We have 47 issued patents including five patents purchased during the

year ended January 2009 and 27 pending patent applications in the U.S We have also applied for patents for many of our key

technologies in regions such as Asia and the European Union The oldest patents owned by us were originally filed in the United

States Patent Office in 1996 which will begin to expire in 2016

The laws of other countries in which we market our products such as some countries in the Asia/Pacific region may offer

little or no protection for our proprietary technologies Reverse engineering unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of

our proprietary technologies could enable third parties to benefit from our technologies without paying us for doing so We also

enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements with our employees consultants customers subcontractors and other

third parties and control access to our designs documentation and other proprietary information If claim is asserted that we

have infringed the intellectual property of third-party we may be required to seek licenses to that technology In addition we

license third-party technologies that are incorporated into some elements of our products Third-parties may infringe or

misappropriate our proprietary rights See Risk Factors

In addition to the proceedings described below in Legal Proceedings we may be required to resort to additional

litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights We may also be subject to legal proceedings and claims relating to our

intellectual property in the ordinary course of our business Intellectual property litigation is expensive and time-consuming and

could divert managements attention away from running our business If claim is asserted that we infringe the intellectual

property of third-party we may be required to pay substantial damages to the party claiming infringement stop selling products

or using technology that contains the allegedly infringing intellectual property develop non-infringing technology or enter into

royalty or license arrangements that may not be available on commercially reasonable terms and conditions See Legal

Proceedings

Competition

The markets for our products are highly competitive and are characterized by rapid technological change declining average

selling price and continuously evolving customer requirements We believe that the principal competitive factors in our markets

include

The ability to consistently deliver biometric performance across the widest user demographics

The ability to provide solutions that meet evolving security requirements

Low-cost

Value add through offering more functionally such as navigation

Small size convenient and easy to use

The breadth and diversity of product offerings

The ability to provide reliable supply of products in sufficient quantities and in timely manner

The quality of customer service and technical support

The ability to operate in harsh physical environments and

Financial and operational stability and reputation

We believe we currently compete favorably with respect to many of these factors in the aggregate although some of our

present or future competitors may have substantial competitive advantages including greater name recognition and deeper

penetration of our target markets broader and more diversified products and services larger sales forces and budgets more

established relationships with customers better sales channels and substantially greater financial technical and other resources
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We cannot assure that our products will continue to compete favorably or that we will be successful in the face of increasing

competition from new products and enhancements introduced by existing competitors or new companies entering our market

Increased competition could harm our business by for example increasing pressure on our profit margins or causing us to lose

customers In addition delivery of products with defects or reliability quality or compatibility problems may damage our

reputation and competitive position

We compete primarily with other suppliers of biometric fingerprint sensors used in PC wireless device and other markets

Our principal competitors include private companies focused on the fingerprint sensor market such as Atrua Inc EgisTec Inc

Syrnwave Inc TJPEK Inc Validity Sensors Inc and certain divisions operating within public companies such as Lite-on

Technology Group Mitsumi Electronic Co Ltd and others The manufacturing packaging and methods of acquiring and

analyzing biometric information employed by our competitors are generally different than ours and different amongst each

competitor In the future we expect competition in our markets to intensify as new competitors enter the market

Employees

As of January 2009 we had 130 full-time employees including 83 in research and development five in operations 26 in

sales and marketing and 16 in general and administrative functions We have never experienced work stoppage and none of our

employees is represented by labor organization or under any collective bargaining arrangements We consider our employee

relations to be good

Facifities

Our main offices occupy approximately 38000 square feet in Melbourne Florida under lease that expires in October

2014 We lease approximately 4000 square feet in Shanghai China We also lease properties in California South Korea Taiwan

and Japan We do not own any manufacturing facilities and contract to third parties the production and distribution of our

semiconductors We believe that our existing facilities meet our current needs and that suitable additional or substitute space will

be available as needed to accommodate expansion of our operations

Trademarks and Service Marks

Our trademarks include AuthenTec EntrØPad FingerLoc Personal Security for the Real World Power of Touch

TrueFinger TruePrint TrueMatch TrueNav TrueSuite TrueYou and TouchStone All other trademarks or service

marks appearing in this Form 10-K are trademarks or service marks of others

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1998 Our principal executive offices are located at 100 Rialto Place Suite 100

Melbourne Florida 32901 and our telephone number is 321 308-1300 Our website address is www.authentec.com The

information on or that can be accessed through our website is not part of this Form 10-K

Website Posting of SEC Filings

Our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such

reports are available free of charge on our website and can be accessed by clicking on the Company/For Investors tab Further

copy of this annual report on Form 10-K is located at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington D.C

20549 Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at -800-SEC-0330 The

SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding our filings

at www.sec.gov
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Item 1A Risk Factors

We have ident Wed certain risk factors that apply to us You should carefully consider each of the following risk factors and

all of the other information included or incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K If any ofthefollowing risks or other risks

not presently known to us or that we currently believe not to be signcant develop into actual events then our business financial

condition and results of operations could be adversely affected In that case the trading price of our common stock could decline

and you might lose all or part ofyour investment in our common stock

Risks Related to Our Business

We have history of losses from operations and our achievement of sustained profitability is uncertain

We were founded in 1998 and did not achieve profitability until fiscal year 2008 We recognized net profit of $45000 in

fiscal 2008 and net losses of $10.9 million in fiscal 2007 and $9.8 million in fiscal 2006 As of January 2009 we had an

accumulated deficit of $75.9 million Our ability to increase revenue or achieve and sustain profitability in the future will depend

substantially on our ability to increase sales of our products to new and existing customers to introduce and sell new products and

to reduce the cost of revenue Furthermore we expect to make significant expenditures related to the development of our

products As public company we have and will continue to incur significant legal accounting and other expenses
that we did

not incur as private company We cannot assure you that our operations will remain profitable in the future

Adverse changes in general economic or political conditions in any of the major countries in which we do business could

adversely affect our operating results

As our business has grown we have become increasingly subject to the risks arising from adverse changes in domestic and

global economic and political conditions Uncertainty about future economic and political conditions makes it difficult for us to

forecast operating results and to make decisions about future investments For example the direction and relative strength of the

global economy has recently been increasingly uncertain due to softness in the residential real estate and mortgage markets

volatility in fuel and other energy costs difficulties in the financial services sector and credit markets continuing geopolitical

uncertainties and other macroeconomic factors affecting spending behavior As economic growth in the United States and other

countries economies has slowed and in some countries turned negative many customers delayed or reduced technology

purchases or marketing spending In addition after growing rapidly we believe the attach rates in 2008 have flattened as result

of the macroeconomic slowdown and sales have shifted to lower-cost laptops versus the full-featured higher-cost laptops These

factors could result in continued reductions in the sales of our products longer sales cycles slower adoption of new technologies

and increased price competition

The current global financial crisis affecting the banking system and financial markets and the possibility that financial

institutions may consolidate or go out of business have resulted in tightening in the credit markets low level of liquidity in

many financial markets and extreme volatility in fixed income credit currency and equity markets There could be number of

follow-on effects from the credit crisis on our business including insolvency of certain of our key suppliers distributors resellers

GEMs retailers and systems integrators ISVs and VARs collectively referred to as distributors which could impair our

supply of products distribution channels the ability of customers including our distributors to obtain credit to finance purchases

of our products The failure of derivative counterparties and other financial institutions could negatively impact our treasury

operations Other income and expense could also vary from expectations depending on gains or losses realized on the sale or

exchange of financial instruments impairment charges related to investment securities as well as equity and other investments

interest rates cash balances and changes in fair value of derivative instruments Any of these events would likely harm our

business results of operations and financial condition

Political instability in any of the major countries we do business in would also likely harm our business results of

operations and financial condition

We are dependent upon relatively small number of significant end customers for more than 80% of our 2008 and 2007

revenue The loss of any one or more of these customers could reduce our revenue

relatively small number of end customers account for significant portion of our revenue in any particular period In

fiscal 2008 Hewlett-Packard Company Fujitsu Ltd and Lenovo Group Ltd either directly or through their suppliers accounted

for 41% 14% and 11% respectively of our revenue in 2008 Our top five end customers accounted for 78% of our revenue in

fiscal 2008 and 85% of our revenue in fiscal 2007 We expect that our history of high end customer concentration and attendant

risk will continue in future periods The loss of any significant end customer will limit our ability to sustain or grow our revenue

In September 2008 we disclosed the loss of 2009 design-in opportunity at one of our significant PC customers We do not

anticipate revenue impact associated with this lost opportunity until late fiscal year 2009 or early fiscal year 2010
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We have experienced significant revenue growth recently and we cannot assure you this trend will continue

We have grown rapidly in short period of time with our revenue increasing 22% from $52.3 million for fiscal 2007 to

$63.9 million for fiscal 2008 and 58% from $33.2 million for fiscal 2006 to $52.3 million for fiscal 2007 We cannot assure you

that we will achieve similar growth rates in future periods You should not rely on the results of any prior periods as an indication

of our future operating performance If we are unable to maintain adequate revenue growth our stock price may decline and we

may not have adequate financial resources to execute our business objectives

You must consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we encountered over the past three years

as growing technology company in very competitive market These risks and difficulties include but are not limited to the

risks identified below and in particular the following factors

our focus on single product market the market for fingerprint authentication solutions

the difficulties we face in managing rapid growth in personnel and operations

the timing and success of new products and new technologies introduced by us and our competitors

our ability to build brand awareness in highly competitive market and

our ability to increase production in timely and cost effective basis

We may not be able to successfully address any
of these risks or others Failure to do so adequately could harm our

business and cause our operating results to suffer

If we acquire any companies or technologies in the future they could prove difficult to integrate disrupt our business dilute

stockholder value and adversely affrct our operating results

In the future we may acquire or make investments in companies assets or technologies that we believe are complementary

or strategic We have not made any acquisitions or investments to date and therefore our ability as an organization to make

acquisitions or investments is unproven If we decide to make an acquisition or investment we face numerous risks including

difficulties in integrating operations technologies products and personnel

diversion of financial and managerial resources from existing operations

risk of overpaying for or misjudging the strategic fit of an acquired company asset or technology

problems or liabilities stemming from defects of an acquired product or intellectual property litigation or another

litigation that may result from offering the acquired product in our markets

challenges in retaining employees key to realizing the value of the acquisition or investment

inability to generate sufficient return on investment

incurrence of significant one-time write-offs and

delays in customer purchases due to uncertainty

If we proceed with an acquisition or investment we may be required to use considerable amount of our cash and

investments which may decrease our liquidity or to finance the transaction through debt or equity securities offerings which may

dilute our stockholders and affect the market price of our stock As result if we fail to properly evaluate and execute

acquisitions or investments our business and prospects may be harmed

We may not be able to manage our future growth effrctively and we may need to incur significant expenditures to address the

additional operational and control requirements of our growth and those of being public company

Over the past several years we have experienced growth and expansion which has placed and any future expansion will

continue to place significant strain on our management personnel systems and financial resources To manage any growth

successfully we believe we must effectively

hire train integrate and manage additional qualified engineers for research and development activities as well as

sales marketing financial and information technology personnel

expand and upgrade our technological capabilities

manage simultaneous relationships with our customers distributors sales representatives subcontractors suppliers

and other third parties

implement new customer service and production control systems
and
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implement and upgrade financial and IT systems

Our efforts may require substantial managerial and financial resources and may increase our operating costs even though

these efforts may not be successful If we are unable to manage any growth effectively we may not be able to take advantage of

market opportunities develop new products satis customer requirements execute our business plan respond to competitive

pressures or comply with public company requirements

The semiconductor industry has historically experienced signijicant fluctuations with prolonged downturns which could

impact our operating results financial condition and cash flows

The semiconductor industry has historically exhibited cyclical behavior which at various times has included significant

downturns in customer demand Because significant portion of our expenses is fixed in the near term or is incurred in advance of

anticipated revenue we may not be able to decrease our expenses rapidly enough to offset any unanticipated shortfall in revenue

If this situation were to occur it could adversely affect our operating results cash flow and financial condition Due to the

macroeconomic downturn our fourth quarter financial results were adversely impacted by sharp decline in demand for our

products

Furthermore the semiconductor industry has experienced periods of increased demand and production constraints If this

happens in the future we may not be able to produce sufficient quantities of our products to meet the increased demand We may
also have difficulty in obtaining sufficient wafer assembly and test resources from our independent subcontractors Any factor

adversely affecting the semiconductor industry in general or the particular segments of the industry that our products target may

adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and could negatively impact our operating results

Our quarterly operating results will likely fluctuate in thefuture

We believe our quarterly operating results will be subject to greater fluctuation due to various factors many of which are

beyond our control Factors that may affect quarterly operating results in the future include

Our ability to attract new customers retain existing customers and increase revenue

Unpredictability of the timing and size of customer orders or customer cancellations of existing orders since most of

our customers purchase our products on purchase order basis rather than pursuant to long-term contract

General economic conditions in our geographic markets

Fluctuations in the capacities of and costs from our subcontractors in order to satisf customer requirements

Variability of our margins based on changes in the mix of products shipped production yields and other costs

Variability of operating expenses as percentage of revenue

Our ability to introduce new and innovative fingerprint authentication solutions that appeal to our customers

Changes in our product pricing including those made in response to new product announcements and pricing changes

of our competitors

Fluctuations based upon seasonality

Our rate of expansion domestically and internationally

The effectiveness of our sales force and the efforts of our distributors and sales representatives

The effect of mergers and acquisitions on our company our competitors our suppliers or our customers and

Accordingly it is difficult for us to accurately forecast our business and results of operations on quarterly basis If we fail

to meet expectations of investors or analysts our stock price may fall rapidly and without notice Further the fluctuation of

quarterly operating results may render period-to-period comparisons of our operating results less meaningful and you should not

rely upon them as an indication of future performance

The market in which we participate is highly competitive and we do not compete efftctively we may not be able to increase

our market penetration grow our revenue or improve our gross margins

The fingerprint authentication market is very competitive and changing rapidly We expect increased challenges from

existing as well as new competitors Some of our competitors have offered solutions at lower prices which have resulted in

pricing pressure on sales of our fingerprint sensors We expect further downward pricing pressure from our competitors and

expect that we will have to price our fingerprint sensors aggressively to maintain or increase our market share If we are unable to

reduce our costs our operating results could be negatively impacted Increased competition generally may also result in reduced
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revenue lower margins or the failure of our products to achieve or maintain widespread market acceptance any of which could

have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

Some of our present or future competitors could enjoy one or more substantial competitive advantages such as

More established relationships with customers contract manufacturers and suppliers

Greater name recognition and deeper penetration of our target markets

broader and more diversified array of products and services

Larger selling and marketing organizations research and development teams and budgets

Better sales channels

Larger customer service and support organizations with greater geographic scope

Longer operating histories and

Substantially greater financial technical and other resources

Our present competitors include private companies such as Atrua Inc EgisTec Inc Symwave Inc UPEK Inc Validity

Sensors Inc and public companies such as Fujitsu Semiconductor and Mitsumi Electronic Co Ltd In addition certain of our

customers offer competitive technologies which could displace our own Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly

arid effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities technologies standards or customer requirements The challenges

we face from new and potentially larger competitors will become greater if consolidation or collaboration between or among our

competitors occurs in our industry For all of these reasons we may not be able to compete successfully against our current or

future competitors and ifwe do not compete effectively our ability to increase our revenue may be impaired

The average selling prices of semiconductor products have historically decreased rapidly and will likely do so in the future

which could harm our revenue gross margin and profits if we are unable to reduce our costs commensurately

The semiconductor products we develop and sell are often subject to rapid declines in average selling prices From time to

time we have had to reduce our prices significantly to meet customer market and competitive pressures and we may be required

to reduce our prices more aggressively than planned Reductions in our average selling prices to one customer could impact our

average selling prices to all customers Our financial results will suffer if we are unable to offset any reductions in our average

seEling prices by increasing our unit volumes reducing our costs or developing new products on timely basis

Resolution of claims that we have violated or may violate the intellectual property rights of others could materially harm our

business and could require us to indemnify our customers resellers or vendors redesign our products pay significant royalties

to third parties or expend additional development resources to redesign our products

The semiconductor industry is marked by large number of patents copyrights trade secrets and trademarks and by

frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violation of intellectual property rights At any time third-party

may assert that our technology or products violates such partys intellectual property rights Successful intellectual property claims

against us could result in significant financial liability or prevent us from operating our business or portions of our business as

currently conducted In addition resolution of claims may require us to redesign our solutions to obtain licenses to use

intellectual property belonging to third parties which we may not be able to obtain on reasonable terms to cease using the

technology covered by those rights and to indemnify our customers resellers or vendors Any claim regardless of its merits could

be expensive and time consuming to defend against and divert the attention of our technical and management resources

Questions of infringement in the biometrics and semiconductor market involve highly technical and subjective analyses

Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights to protect our trade secrets

to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity and

we may not prevail in any such future litigation Litigation whether or not determined in our favor or settled is costly could harm

our reputation could cause our customers to use our competitors products and could divert the efforts and attention of our

management and technical personnel from normal business operations

Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights trade secrets copyrights trademarks and technical know-how could

impair our competitiveness

Our ability to prevent competitors from gaining access to our technology is essential to our success If we fail to protect cur

intellectual property rights adequately we may lose an important advantage in the markets in which we compete Trademark

patent copyright and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions as well as our internal confidentiality

procedures and contractual provisions are the core of our efforts to protect our proprietary technology and our brand Our patents
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and other intellectual property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative proceedings or litigation

and we may initiate claims or litigation against third parties for infringement of our proprietary rights Such administrative

proceedings and litigation are inherently uncertain and divert resources that could be put towards other business priorities We

may not be able to obtain favorable outcome and may spend considerable resources in our efforts to defend and protect our

intellectual property

Furthermore legal standards relating to the validity enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are

uncertain We may be unable to obtain additional patent protection in the future or obtain patents with claims of scope necessary

to cover our technology Effective patent trademark copyright and trade secret protection may not be available to us in every

country in which our products are available The laws of some foreign countries may not be as protective of intellectual property

rights as those in the United States and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights may be inadequate

Accordingly despite our efforts we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our

intellectual property and using our technology for their competitive advantage Any such infringement or misappropriation could

have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

There can be no assurance that the patents of others will not have an effect on our ability to do business In addition we

cannot assure you that our intellectual property rights will be adequate to prevent our competitors from copying or reverse-

engineering our products or that our competitors will not independently develop similar or competing technologies or methods or

design around any patents that may be issued to us

Our products must meet exacting specifications and defects and failures may occur which may cause customers to return or

stop buying our products

Our customers generally establish demanding specifications for quality performance and reliability that our products must

meet However our products are highly complex and may contain defects and failures when they are first introduced or as new

versions are released Our products are also subject to rough environments as they are integrated into our customer products for

use by the end customers If defects and failures occur in our products we could experience lost revenue increased costs

including warranty expense and costs associated with customer support delays in or cancellations or rescheduling of orders or

shipments product returns or discounts diversion of management resources or damage to our reputation and brand equity and in

some cases consequential damages any of which would harm our operating results In addition delays in our ability to fill product

orders as result of quality control issues may negatively impact our relationship with our customers We cannot assure you that

we will have sufficient resources including any available insurance to satisf any asserted claims

Our future financial performance will depend on the widespread acceptance of biometric solutions

In its short history the biometrics market has been characterized by the frequent introduction of new technologies and

products The application of biometric technologies in non-governmental applications including fingerprint is relatively new

Although the market has been growing rapidly there is no assurance that this growth will continue Consumers and corporations

may not find value in having biometric technologies integrated in the products they use such as PCs wireless devices and access

control systems If end users do not value the product then our customers may decide not to use our sensors in their future

products In addition there are multiple variants of biometric technologies beyond fingerprint including face hand vein voice

iris and others Our customers and their end users may find these technologies of greater value and choose these technologies

over our own

The expansion of the biometric market also depends on the following factors

Public perception regarding the intrusiveness of our biometrics and the manner in which organizations use the

biometric information collected

Legislation related to biometric information

Publicity regarding biometric solutions and

Security or use issues associated with our or competitive products that may reflect poorly on the biometrics market in

general

Even if biometric solutions gain wide market acceptance our solutions may not adequately address market requirements

and may not continue to gain market acceptance
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The outcome of and costs related to the pending shareholder class action are uncertain

On October 2008 complaint for violation of U.S securities laws was filed by Brian Hoffman against our company our

CEO Scott Moody and our CFO Gary Larsen in the United States District Court of Florida The lawsuit is described in detail in

Item Legal Proceedings On January 2009 an Amended Complaint was filed on behalf of class of persons who

purchased our common stock between October 29 2007 and September 2008 alleging that the defendants made false or

misleading statements concerning our business operations and prospects and that the putative class suffered losses as result We

strongly refute these allegations and intend to defend this lawsuit

We are not able to predict the outcome of this lawsuit however if we are unsuccessful in our efforts to defend against the

allegations raised in the lawsuit our business and financial condition could be negatively impacted In addition the lawsuit and

other legal matters could consume the time and attention of our senior management

We maintain insurance intended to provide coverage for the potential consequences of negative outcome of the lawsuit

described above including our legal expenses We have given notice to our insurers of the claims The insurers have responded by

requesting additional information and by reserving their rights under the policies including the rights to deny coverage under

various policy exclusions or to rescind the policies in question There can be no assurance that the insurers will not seek to deny

coverage or rescind the policies that all of the claims or expenses will be covered by such policies or that even if covered our

ultimate liability will not exceed the available insurance

If we fail to achieve initial design-wins for our products we may lose the opportunity to generate revenue for lengthy period

of time and be unable to recoup our investments in our products

We expend considerable resources to achieve design-wins for our products especially our new products and product

enhancements Once customer designs fingerprint sensor into product it is likely to continue to use the same sensor or

enhanced versions of that sensor from the same supplier across number of similar and successor products for period of time

due to the significant costs associated with qualifying new supplier and potentially redesigning the product to incorporate

different fingerprint sensor If we fail to achieve an initial design-win in customers procurement process we may lose the

opportunity for significant sales to that customer for number of its products and for lengthy period of time This may cause us

to be unable to recoup our investments in our products which would harm our business After design win has been awarded

customers may cancel postpone or significantly reduce production volume which could adversely impact our future revenue

We rely on limited number of independent subcontractors for the manufacture warehousing and shipping of our products

and the failure of any of these third-party vendors to deliver products or otherwise perform as requested could damage our

relationships with our customers decrease our revenue and limit our growth

We do not have our own wafer fabrication assembly or test facilities and have very limited in-house prototype testing

operation Therefore we must rely on third-party subcontractors to manufacture the products we design and sell We currently

primarily rely on Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company Ltd or TSMC to fabricate our semiconductor products We

also rely on Chipbond Technology Corp or Chipbond for special coating technologies which are referred to as bumping and on

Signetics Corporation or Signetics and ChipMOS Technologies or ChipMOS to assemble and test most of our products If these

vendors do not provide us with high-quality manufacturing services and capacity in timely manner or if one or more of these

vendors terminates its relationship with us we may be unable to obtain satisfactory replacements to fulfill customer orders on

timely basis our relationships with our customers could suffer and our revenue could decrease

The fabrication of integrated circuits is complex and technically demanding process Our subcontractors could from time

to time experience manufacturing defects and reduced manufacturing yields Changes in manufacturing processes or the

inadvertent use of defective or contaminated materials could result in lower than anticipated manufacturing yields or unacceptable

performance Many of these problems are difficult to detect at an early stage of the manufacturing process
and may be time

consuming and expensive to correct In addition production yields for new products are generally lower at the initial production

ramp Product yields depend on our product design the fabrication technology and the assembly process Identifying yield

problems can only occur in the production cycle when product can be physically analyzed and tested in volume Poor yields

integration issues or other performance problems in our products could cause us significant customer relations and business

reputation problems harm our financial results and result in financial or other damages to our customers Our customers could

also seek damages from us for their losses product liability claim brought against us even if unsuccessful would likely be time

consuming and costly to defend

Other potential risks associated with relying on third-party subcontractors include

Reduced control over product cost delivery schedules and product quality
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Potential price increases

Inability to achieve required production or test capacity and acceptable yields on timely basis

Longer delivery times

Increased exposure to potential misappropriation of our intellectual property

Shortages of materials used to manufacture our products

Labor shortages or labor strikes

Quarantines or closures of manufacturing facilities due to the outbreak of viruses such as SARS the avian flu or any

similar future outbreaks worldwide and

Political risks in countries we operate in

We currently do not have long-term supply contracts with any of our subcontractors Therefore they are not obligated to

perform services or supply products to us for any specific period in any specific quantities or at any specific price except as may

be provided in particular purchase order Our subcontractors have not provided contractual assurances to us that adequate

capacity will be available for us to meet future demand for our products These third-party vendors may allocate capacity to the

production of other companies products while reducing deliveries to us on short notice In particular other customers that are

larger and better financed than we are or that have long-term agreements with TSMC Chipbond Signetics or ChipMOS may

cause them to reallocate capacity to those customers decreasing the capacity available to us

Our success will depend on the timely introduction of new products with increased functionality

Our future financial performance will depend on our ability to meet customer specifications and requirements by enhancing

our current fingerprint authentication solutions and developing products with new and better functionality We expect to devote

significant resources to identifing new market trends and developing products to meet anticipated customer demand for

fingerprint sensor solutions Ultimately however customers may not purchase our solutions Accordingly we can not assure you

that demand for the type of solutions we offer and plan to offer will continue to develop as we anticipate or at all We must

develop new products and enhance our existing products with improved technologies to meet rapidly evolving customer

requirements The success of new features depends on several factors including their timely introduction and market acceptance

We may not be successful in developing enhancements or new solutions or bringing them to market in timely manner We could

experience delays in completing the development and introduction of new products and product enhancements that may render

our products when introduced obsolete and unmarketable Customers may also defer purchases of our existing products pending

the introduction of anticipated new products If our new solutions are not competitive with solutions offered by other vendors we

may not be perceived as technology leader and could miss market opportunities If we are unable to enhance the functionality of

our solutions or introduce new solutions which achieve widespread market acceptance our reputation will be damaged the value

of our brand will diminish and our business will suffer In addition uncertainties about the timing and nature of new features and

products could result in increases in our research and development expenses with no assurance of future sales

We manufacture our products based on our estimates of customer demand and if our estimates are incorrect our financial

results could be negatively impacted

Our revenue is made on the basis of purchase orders rather than long-term purchase commitments In addition our

customers may cancel purchase orders or defer the shipments of our products We manufacture our products according to our

estimates of customer demand This process requires us to make multiple demands forecast assumptions each of which may

introduce error into our estimates If we overestimate customer demand we may manufacture products that we may not be able to

sell In addition the rapid pace of innovation in our industry could render obsolete significant portions of such inventory Excess

or obsolete inventory levels for these or other reasons could result in unexpected expenses or increases in our reserves which

would adversely affect our business and financial results Conversely ifwe underestimate customer demand or if sufficient

manufacturing capacity were unavailable we would forego revenue opportunities lose market share and damage our customer

relationships

Our sales cycle is lengthy and expensive and could adversely afftct the amount timing and predictability offuture revenue

Our customers generally need three months to three years if not longer after initial contact to make final purchase

decision with respect to our products Our typical sales cycle often includes prototype phase as method to show proof of

concept and manufacturability As customers weigh their purchase options we may expend significant resources in pursuit of

sale that may ultimately fail to close We have little control over our customers budget cycles and approval processes or the

strength of competitors relationships with our potential customers all of which could adversely affect our sales efforts The

introduction of new products and product enhancements may lengthen our sales cycle as customers defer decision on purchasing
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existing products and evaluate our new products If we are unsuccessful in closing sales after expending significant resources our

revenue and operating expenses will be adversely affected

We must work closely with our subcontractors to make timely new product introductions

We rely on our close working relationships with our independent subcontractors and other suppliers including TSMC
Chipbond Signetics and ChipMOS to anticipate and deliver new products on timely basis when new generation materials and

technologies are made available If we are not able to maintain our relationships with our subcontractors our ability to quickly
offer advanced technology and product innovations to our customers would be impaired

Maintaining and improving our financial controls and complying with rules and regulations applicable to public companies

may be significant burden on our management team and require considerable expenditures of our resources

As public company we have and will continue to incur additional legal accounting and other expenses that we did not
incur as private company The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Exchange Act the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and The

Nasdaq Marketplace Rules apply to us as public company Compliance with these rules and regulations has and will continue to

necessitate significant increases in our legal and financial budgets and may also strain our personnel systems and resources

The Exchange Act requires among other things filing of annual quarterly and current reports with respect to our business

and financial condition The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires among other things that we maintain effective disclosure controls and

procedures and internal control over financial reporting Satisfying these requirements involves commitment of significant

resources and management oversight As result of managements efforts to comply with such requirements other important
business concerns may receive insufficient attention which could have material adverse effect on our business financial

condition and results of operations Failure to meet certain of these regulatory requirements could cause us to be delisted from the

Nasdaq Global Market

Our headquarters are located in Florida and our third-party manufacturing subcontractors are concentrated in Asia areas

subject to significant natural disaster risks

TSMC which fabricates our semiconductors and Chipbond which performs substantially all of our bumping are located

in China and Taiwan respectively Signetics and ChipMOS which provides substantially all of our assembly and test support is

located in South Korea and Taiwan respectively The risk of extreme weather and an earthquake in the Pacific Rim region is

significant due to the proximity of major earthquake fault lines In September 1999 major earthquake in Taiwan affected the

facilities of TSMC as well as other providers of foundry assembly and test services In 2005 several typhoons also disrupted the

operations of TSMC As result of these natural disasters these subcontractors suffered power outages and disruptions that

impaired their production capacity In March 2002 and June 2003 additional earthquakes occurred in Taiwan The occurrence of

earthquakes and other natural disasters could result in the disruption of operations There is also level of political unrest or

uncertainty in some of these areas We may not be able to obtain alternate capacity on favorable terms if at all which could harm

our operating results

In addition our headquarters are located in Florida The risk of hurricane in Florida is significant In 2004 the centers of

two hurricanes came close to the area in which we operate and we suffered power outages and disrupted business operations

If we lose any key employees or are unable to attract additional key employees we may not be able to implement our business

strategy in timely manner

Our future success depends in large part upon the continued service of our executive management team and other key

employees We are particularly dependent on the continued service of our existing research and development personnel because of

the complexity of our products and technologies Our employment arrangements with our executives and employees do not

require them to provide services to us for any specific length of time and they can terminate their employment with us at any
time with or without notice without penalty The loss of services of

any of these executives or of one or more other key members
of our team could seriously harm our business

To execute our growth plan we must continue to attract additional highly qualified personnel We have experienced in the

past and may continue to experience difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications If

we are unable to attract and integrate additional key employees in manner that enables us to scale our business and operations

effectively or if we do not maintain competitive compensation policies to retain our employees our ability to operate effectively

and efficiently could be limited
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Security breaches in systems which integrate our products could result in the disclosure of sensitive information that could

result in the loss of customers and negative publicity

Many of the sensors we sell protect private corporate or personal information security breach in one of these systems

which integrate our products could cause serious harm to our business as result of negative publicity and lost business This risk

is difficult to manage since our primary customer base OEMs and ODMs control the overall system design and security feature

integration In addition most customers currently use third party software to interface with our fmgerprint sensors However

should customer or end user lose important sensitive information they may elect to pursue legal claim against us for their

perceived damage

We work with distributors and sales representatives to sell our products and if our relationships with one or more of those

distributors or sales representatives were to terminate our operating results may be impacted

We rely in part upon third parties including our independent sales representatives and our distributors to promote our

products generate demand and sales leads and obtain orders for our products Our distributors and sales representatives also

provide technical sales support to our customers The activities of these third parties are not within our direct control Our failure

to manage our relationships with these third parties effectively could impair the effectiveness of our sales marketing and support

activities reduction in the sales efforts technical capabilities or fmancial viability of these parties misalignment of interest

between us and them or termination of our relationship with major sales representative or our distributor could have

negative effect on our revenue financial results and ability to support our customers These parties are engaged under short-term

contracts which typically may be terminated by either party on 30 to 60 days notice It generally takes approximately three

months for third-party such as sales representative to become educated about our products and capable of providing quality

sales and technical support to our customers If we were to terminate our relationship with our distributor or one of our larger sales

representatives or if one of them decided to discontinue its relationship with us sales to current and prospective customers could

be disrupted or delayed and we could experience diversion of substantial time and resources as we seek to identify contract

with and train replacement

If we switch to another foundry to manufacture our semiconductors our current manufacturing process could be disrupted

which could negatively impact our unit volumes and revenue

As result of the complexity in semiconductor manufacturing it is difficult to retain and rely on new foundry We may

not be able to enter into relationship with new foundry that produces satisfactory yields on cost-effective basis If we need

another foundry because of increased demand or the inability to obtain timely and adequate deliveries from our current provider

we might not be able to cost-effectively and quickly retain other vendors to satisfy our requirements Any failure to successfully

integrate new foundry could negatively impact our unit volumes and revenue

Our business depends on customers suppliers and our own operations outside the United States and as result we are subject

to regulatory operational financial and political risks which could adversely affect our financial results

The percentage of our revenue attributable to shipments to customers outside the United States was 97% in fiscal 2008

96% in fiscal 2007 and 92% in fiscal 2006 We expect that revenue from customers outside the United States will continue to

account for significant percentage of our revenue In addition we maintain international sales and technical support offices in

China Germany Japan South Korea and Taiwan and we rely on network of distributors and sales representatives to sell our

products internationally Moreover we have in the past relied on and expect to continue to rely on subcontractors located in

China South Korea and Taiwan Accordingly we are subject to several risks and challenges any of which could harm our

business and fmancial results These risks and challenges include

Difficulties and costs of staffing and managing international operations across different geographic areas and

cultures

Compliance with wide variety of domestic and foreign laws and regulations including those relating to the import

or export of semiconductor products

Legal uncertainties regarding employee issues taxes tariffs quotas export controls export licenses and other trade

barriers

Our ability to receive timely payment and collect our accounts receivables

Political legal and economic instability foreign conflicts natural disasters and the impact of regional and global

infectious diseases such as SARS or avian flu in the countries in which we and our customers suppliers and

subcontractors are located and

Legal uncertainties regarding protection of intellectual property rights
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Our investments in auction rate securities and corporate bonds and notes are subject to risks that may cause losses and have

material adverse effect on our liquidity

As of January 2009 $5.3 million of our long-term investments were comprised of municipal notes preferred stock

investments and student loan backed security with auction reset features auction rate securities Liquidity for these auction

rate securities is typically provided by an auction process which allows holders to sell their notes and resets the applicable interest

rate at pre-determined intervals usually every seven 28 or 35 days

Starting in mid February of 2008 auctions for most of the auction rate securities held at January 2009 have failed and

there is no assurance that auctions on the remaining auction rate securities in our investment portfolio will continue to succeed An

auction failure means that the parties wishing to sell their securities could not be matched with an adequate volume of buyers In

the event that there is failed auction the indenture governing the security requires the issuer to pay
interest at contractually

defined rate that is generally above market rates for other types of similar short-term instruments The securities for which

auctions have failed will continue to accrue interest at the contractual rate and be auctioned every seven 28 or 35 days until the

auction succeeds the issuer calls the securities or they mature As result our ability to liquidate and fully recover the carrying

value of our auction rate securities in the near term may be limited If the issuers of these auction rate securities are unable to

successfully close future auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate we may in the future be required to record an additional

temporary or other-than temporary impairment charge on these investments We may be required to wait until market stability is

restored for these instruments or until the final maturity of the underlying notes to realize our investments recorded value As of

January 2009 these securities have been classified as long-term investments in our consolidated financial statements and one of

our auction rate securities was considered other than temporarily impaired which resulted in us taking an impairment charge of

$0.3 million to the statement of operations

Future transactions may limit our ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards

As of January 2009 we had U.S federal tax net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $48.9 million These net

operating loss carry forwards may be used to offset future taxable income and thereby reduce our U.S federal income taxes

otherwise payable Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended or the Code imposes an annual limit on the

ability of corporation that undergoes an ownership change to use its net operating loss carry forwards to reduce its tax

liability Due in part to equity financings we experienced ownership changes as defined in Section 382 of the Code It is

impossible for us to ensure that we will not experience an ownership change in the future because changes in our stock ownership

some of which are outside of our control could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code Accordingly our

use of the net operating loss carry forwards and credit carry forwards is limited by the annual limitations described in Sections 382

and 383 of the Code The limitation on the use of net operating loss carry forwards means that we may need to pay U.S federal

income taxes prior to utilizing these carry forwards in their entirety

If we fail to comply with export control regulations we could be subject to substantial fines or other sanctions

Certain of our products are subject to the Export Administration Regulations administered by the Department of

Commerce Bureau of Industry Security which require that we obtain an export license before we can export products or

technology to specified countries Additionally some of our products are subject to the International Traffic in Arms Regulations

which restrict the export of information and material that may be used for military or intelligence applications by foreign person

Failure to comply with these laws could result in sanctions by the government including substantial monetary penalties denial of

export privileges and debarment from government contracts and could negatively impact our business financial condition and

results of operations

We rely on partners to enhance our product offerings and our inability to continue to develop or maintain such relationships

in the future would harm our ability to remain competitive

We have developed relationships with third-party partners which we refer to as our Solution Provider Network which

provide application software hardware reference designs and other services designed for specific uses with our products We

believe these relationships enhance our customers ability to get their products to market quickly If we are unable to continue to

develop or maintain these relationships we might not be able to enhance our customers ability to commercialize their products in

timely fashion and our ability to remain competitive would be harmed
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Risks Related To Our Common Stock

We cannot assure you what the market pricefor our common stock will be in the future

We cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in our common stock will be sustained The lack of trading market

may result in limited research coverage by securities analysts Prices for the shares of our common stock are determined in the

market and may be influenced by many factors including the depth and liquidity of the market for our common stock investor

perception of our business profit margins in the fingerprint identification industry generally and general economic and market

conditions

Further the trading prices of technology company securities in general have been highly volatile Accordingly the trading

price of our common stock is likely to be subject to wide fluctuations Factors in addition to those outlined elsewhere in this

annual report on Form 10-K that may affect the trading price of our common stock include

Actual or anticipated variations in our operating results

Announcements of technological innovations new products or product enhancements strategic alliances or

significant agreements by us or by our competitors

Changes in recommendations by any securities analysts that elect to follow our common stock

The financial projections we may provide to the public any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these

projections

The completion of merger or acquisition

The loss of key customer

The loss of key supplier

The loss of key personnel

Government regulations affecting biometrics

Technological advancements rendering our products less valuable

Lawsuits filed against us

Changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other companies that sell similar products

Price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market

Market conditions in our industry the industries of our customers and the economy as whole and

Other events or factors including those resulting from war incidents of terrorism or responses to these events

In addition the stock market in general and the Nasdaq Global Market in particular have experienced substantial price and

volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies

affected These broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our common stock regardless of our

operating performance In the past following periods of volatility in the market price of certain companies securities securities

class-action litigation has been instituted against these companies As described elsewhere in this report such litigation has

recently been commenced against us Although we believe that this litigation is without merit and although the majority of our

litigation expenses will be covered by insurance the pendency of this litigation could adversely affect our business and results of

operations

Substantialfuture sales of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to falL

Any sale by us or our current stockholders of our common stock in the public market or the perception that sales could

occur could adversely affect the prevailing market price for our common stock We may also sell additional shares of common
stock in subsequent public offerings which may also adversely affect market prices for our common stock

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our stock the price of our

stock could decline

The research and reports that industry or fmancial analysts publish about us or our business will likely have an effect on the

trading price of our common stock If an industry analyst decides not to cover us or if an industry analyst decides to cease

covering us at some point in the future we could lose visibility in the market which in turn could cause our stock price to decline

If an industry analyst downgrades our stock our stock price would likely decline rapidly in
response
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Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law might discourage delay or prevent change of

control of or changes in our management and as result depress the trading price of our common stock

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could discourage delay or prevent change in control or

changes in our management that our stockholders may deem advantageous These provisions

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws

authorize the issuance of blank check preferred stock that our board could issue to increase the number of

outstanding shares and to discourage takeover attempt

limit the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders

prohibit stockholder action by written consent which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at meeting of our

stockholders

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make alter or repeal our bylaws and

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board or for proposing matters that can be

acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings

In addition we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which subject to some exceptions

prohibits business combinations between Delaware corporation and an interested stockholder which is generally defmed as

stockholder who becomes beneficial owner of 15% or more of Delaware corporations voting stock for three-year period

following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder Section 203 could have the effect of delaying deferring

or preventing change in control that our stockholders might consider to be in their best interests

These anti-takeover defenses could discourage delay or prevent transaction involving change in control These

provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of

your choosing and cause us to take corporate actions other than those you desire

We do not expect to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future

We do not anticipate that we will pay any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future

Accordingly investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation which may never occur as the only way

to realize any future gains on their investment Investors seeking cash dividends in the foreseeable future should not purchase our

common stock

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

As of the date of the filing of this annual report on Form 10-K there were no unresolved comments from the staff of the

Securities and Exchange Commission

Item Properties

Our main offices occupy approximately 38000 square feet in Melbourne Florida under lease that expires in October

2014 We lease approximately 4000 square feet in Shanghai China We also lease properties in California South Korea Taiwan

and Japan These leases have been classified as operating leases We do not own any manufacturing facilities and contract to third

parties the production and distribution of our semiconductors We believe that our existing facilities meet our current needs and

that suitable additional or substitute space will be available as needed to accommodate expansion of our operations

Item Legal Proceedings

On March 12 2008 we filed patent infringement lawsuit against Atrua Technologies Inc in the United States District

Court Northern District of California alleging that Atruas fmgerprint sensors infringe three of our patents Two of the patents

relate to fingerprint sensor packaging and the third relates to fingerprint sensor circuitry On April 25 2008 we amended the

complaint to add allegations that Atruas fingerprint sensors infringe another two of our patents which relate to fmgerprint

circuitry We seek monetary damages for infringement by Atruas fingerprint sensor products and an injunction against Atruas

future infringement of the patents Atrua answered the complaint on May 14 2008 and filed counterclaims against us The

counterclaims allege infringement of an Atrua patent related to biometric imaging and various affirmative defenses Both

companies are asserting allegations related to unfair business practices We believe that we have meritorious defenses to all of

Atruas claims and we intend to defend our interests vigorously case management order was issued by the Court on July 11

2008 and set an initial claim construction hearing on two of our five patents in the 2nd Quarter of 2009 Following the initial

claim construction by the Court further case management conference will be conducted at which time the Court will decide how

Page 24 of 70



the case will proceed Discovery is ongoing It is difficult to determine under the Courts Order when trial may
occur Accordingly it is difficult to estimate with any degree of probability the timing of future costs associated with this lawsuit

On October 2008 complaint for violation of U.S federal securities laws was filed by Brian Hoffman against

AuthenTec our CEO Scott Moody and CFO Gary Larsen in the United States Disthct Court Middle District of Florida We

strongly refute the unsubstantiated allegations in the complaint and filed Motion to Dismiss or Strike the Complaint on

December 2008 lead plaintiff Robert Caruso and lead counsel were appointed by the Court in December 2008 and were

provided short period to either amend the originally filed complaint or respond to our motion to dismiss On January 2009 an

Amended Complaint was filed on behalf of class of persons who purchased our common stock between October 29 2007 and

September 2008 alleging that the defendants made false or misleading statements concerning our business operations and

prospects and that the putative class suffered losses as result Motion to Dismiss or Strike the Amended Complaint with

Prejudice was filed on February 2009 We believe that we have meritorious defenses to all of the securities claims and we
intend to defend our interests vigorously

In addition to these legal proceedings from time to time we may be involved in various legal proceedings arising from the

normal course of business activities Depending on the amount and timing an unfavorable resolution of matter could materially

affect our future results of operations cash flows or fmancial position in particular period

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to vote of security holders during the quarter ended January 2009

PART II

Item Market for the Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol AUTH and started trading on June 27
2007 The following tables set forth for the periods indicated the high and low intra-day prices for our common stock as reported

on the Nasdaq Global Market

Year ended January 2009 High Low

First Quarter $15.00 8.65

Second Quarter 14.35 9.79

ThirdQuarter 11.18 1.75

Fourth Quarter 2.30 1.28

Year ended December 28 2007 High Low

Second Quarter beginning June 27 2007 $12.05 9.58

Third Quarter 14.65 9.21

Fourth Quarter 19.81 10.14

As of March 18 2009 the number of stockholders of record of our common stock was 41

The equity compensation plan information required by this item which includes summary of the number of outstanding

options granted to employees and directors as well as the number of securities remaining available for future issuances under our

compensation plans as of January 2009 is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended January 2009
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

The following sets forth information regarding unregistered securities sold by us during the fiscal year 2008 and 2007

On December 31 2007 we issued 43461 shares of our common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 49881

shares of our common stock held by investors On February 21 2008 we issued 1021 shares of our common stock upon the net

exercise of warrants to purchase 4115 shares of our common stock held by investors

In December 2007 we issued approximately 830000 shares of our common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to

purchase approximately 944000 shares of our common stock held by investors Total cash paid to us upon exercise of the

warrants was approximately $295000

The securities issued in the foregoing transactions were offered and sold in reliance on exemptions from registration set

forth in Section 42 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or regulations promulgated there under relating to sales by an

issuer not involving any public offering or an exemption from registration under Rule 701 promulgated under the Securities Act

of 1933 as amended

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

As part of our initial public offering on July 2007 we registered the sale of 7500000 shares of our common stock on

Form S-l Registration Statement File No 333-141348 which was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange

Commission on June 26 2007 The net proceeds from our initial public offering will be used for working capital and general

corporate purposes including potential acquisitions We have no current agreements or commitments with respect to any
material

acquisitions This expected use of the net proceeds of our initial public offering represents our current intentions based upon our

present plans and business condition The amounts and timing of our actual expenditures will depend upon numerous factors

including cash flows from operations and the anticipated growth of our business We will retain broad discretion in the allocation

and use of our net proceeds

Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock We currently anticipate that we will retain all of

our future earnings for use in developing our business and do not expect to pay any dividend in the foreseeable future

Performance Graph

The following graph presents comparison of the cumulative total stockholder return on our stock with the cumulative total

return of the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Philadelphia Semiconductor Index for the period of eighteen months commencing

June 27 2007 and ending January 2009 The graph assumes that $100 was invested on June 27 2007 in each of AuthenTec

common stock the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Philadelphia Semiconductor Index and that all dividends were reinvested

Page 26 of 70



COMPARISONOF 18 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Authentec mc The NASOAQ Composite Index

And The Philadelphia Semiconductor Index

$200

$180

$160

$140

$120

--
$80

------4Ø-- ----

TT
O7 GO7 7101 810 01 11 1O7 101 10$ 310 408 S8 O8 110$ 810$ IO 1106

o---Authenteclnc NASDAQCOmpGSIt ---G- Phltadetphlasemlconductor

Above graph shows the performance of $100 invested on June 27 2007 the date of our initial public offering in our

common stock through January 2009 end of fiscal year and on May 31 2007 in the Nasdaq Composite Index and the

Philadelphia Semiconductor Index index-including reinvestment of dividends through December 31 2008

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None

Item Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with and is qualified by reference to our

consolidated financial statements and related notes and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 10-K The data as of January 2009 and December 28 2007 and for the

fiscal years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 are derived from our audited consolidated

financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K The data as of December 29 2006 December 31
2005 and December 31 2004 and for the fiscal years ended December 31 2005 and 2004 are derived from our audited

consolidated fmancial statements and related notes not included in this Form 10-K Our historical results are not necessarily

indicative of the results to be expected in any future period
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Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29 December 31 December 31

2009 2007 2006 2005 2004_

In thousands except per share data

Revenue 63948 52344 33174 19243 13835

Cost of revenue 33397 27554 19264 11314 7424

Gross profit 30551 24790 13910 7929 6411

Expenses

Research and development 16459 12876 9631 7355 6002

Selling and marketing 9466 9112 7067 5432 3986

General and administrative 12 6580 5750 5084 1284
______

1270

Total expenses 32505 27738 21782 14071 11258

Loss from operations 1954 2948 7872 6142 4847
Other income expense

Warrant expense 9637 2195 933
Enterest expense 110 11
Empairment on investments 266
Interest income 2265 1798 285 449

______
214

Total other income expense net 1999 7949 1910 484 203

Income loss before income tax expense and

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

45 10897 9782 6626 4644

Income tax expense

Income loss before cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle 45 10897 9782 6626 4644

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

___________
4469 _____

Net income loss 45 10897 9782 11095

Net income loss per common share basic .00 .80 15.18 36.59 24.65

Shares used in computing basic net income loss per

common share 28339 13681 644 303 188

Net income loss per common share diluted .00 .80 15.18 36.59 24.65

Shares used in computing diluted net income loss per

common share 30308 13681 644 303 188

Cost of revenue 109 46

Research and development 773 346 11

Selling and marketing 665 214

General and administrative 871 480 79

Total 2418 1086 95

2006 includes accrued future litigation related legal expenses of $2781

Reflects changes in the fair value of our freestanding preferred stock warrants See note below

2005 includes the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle related to the manner in which we account for freestanding warrants

on redeemable preferred stock

As Of

January December 28 December 29 December 31 December 31

2009 2007 2006 2005 _2004
In thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 45193 15703 6076 690 743

Short term investments 18132 42573 9454 17306

Working capital 64942 59692 6130 12932 18737

Total assets 83463 81934 15927 19721 22258

Long-term obligations net of current portion 417 8495 5402

Total stockholders equity deficit 74069 71036 63539 54028 43076
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

This section should be read in conjunction with Cautionary Statements and Risk Factors in Item IA of Part and

Item of Part IL Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data The following discussion contains forward-

looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties Our actual results could dffer materially from those anticipated in these

forward-looking statements as result of various factors including those discussed below and elsewhere in this Form 10-K

Overview

We are leading mixed-signal semiconductor company providing fingerprint authentication sensors and solutions to the PC

and wireless device markets We believe our products which are based on our patented TruePrint-based technology are the most

accurate reliable cost-effective easy to use and versatile products commercially available today Since our inception in 1998 we

have shipped over 44 million sensors which have been integrated into over 250 different models of laptops desktops and PC

peripherals as well as over million mobile phones In response to increased demand we shipped over 17.7 million sensor units

in 2008 39% increase over the 12.7 million sensor units we shipped in 2007

Since inception we have invested heavily in research and development and had not achieved profitability prior to the year

ended January 2009 From our incorporation through 2000 we were primarily engaged in the design and development of our

first products which we began shipping commercially in 2000 Our revenue has grown from $13.8 million in 2004 to $63.9

million in 2008 driven primarily by demand in the PC and wireless device markets We expect sales of our products for use in the

PC and wireless device markets to continue to represent substantial portion of our revenue in the foreseeable future In the fourth

quarter of 2008 we experienced sequential decline in revenue as compared to the third quarter 2008 as customer demand was

impacted by weakening macroeconomic conditions We expect the weakened macroeconomic conditions to continue in 2009

which will adversely impact our revenue

We primarily sell our products to OEMs ODMs or contract manufacturers Our customers products are complex and

require significant time to define design and ramp to volume production Our sales cycle begins with our selling and marketing

staff and application engineers engaging with our customers system designers and management which is typically multi-

month or even multi-year process If we are successful customer will decide to incorporate our solution in its product which

we refer to as design-win Because the sales cycles for our products are long we incur expenses to develop and sell our

products regardless of whether we achieve the design-win and well in advance of generating revenue if any from those

expenditures We do not have long-term purchase commitments from any of our customers as sales of our products are generally

made under individual purchase orders However once one of our products is incorporated into customers design it is likely to

remain designed in for the life cycle of its product We believe this to be the case because redesign of product already in

production would generally be time consuming and expensive We have experienced revenue growth due to an increase in the

number of our products offered an expansion of our customer base an increase in the number of design-wins within any one

customer and an increase in the average revenue per design-win In September 2008 we issued press release and held

conference call which in part disclosed the loss of 2009 design-in opportunity at one of our significant PC customers We do

not anticipate revenue impact associated with this loss until late fiscal year 2009 or early fiscal year 2010

We do not own or operate our own semiconductor fabrication wafer bumping assembly or test facilities We depend on

independent vendors to manufacture assemble and test our fmgerprint sensor products By outsourcing manufacturing we are

able to avoid the cost associated with owning and operating our own manufacturing facility and take advantage of the scale of

operations these third parties provide

Our future profitability and rate of growth if any will be directly affected by the continued acceptance of our products in

the marketplace as well as the timing and size of orders product mix average selling prices and costs of our products timely

introduction of new products and general economic conditions Our ability to maintain profitability will also be affected by the

extent to which we must incur additional expenses to expand our sales marketing development and general and administrative

capabilities to expand our business The largest component of our operating expenses is personnel costs Personnel costs consist of

salaries benefits and incentive compensation including bonuses and stock-based compensation for our employees The following

are material trends that are creating opportunities and risks to our business and discussion of how we are responding

The global macroeconomic downturn has accelerated the growth in sales of lower-cost PCs including netbooks The

fmgerprint sensor attach rate in lower-cost PCs is lower relative to more expensive feature rich models To increase

penetration of the lower-cost PC market we are focusing development efforts on lower-cost fingerprint sensors and

client application software tailored for use in this growing portion of the PC market We expect to introduce small

lower-cost fmgerprint sensor for the PC market codenamed Marcy in 2009 These new solutions are tailored for

consumer PCs and the growing portion of the lower-cost laptop market

Outside of Japan wireless network carriers are still evaluating the value proposition of integrating fmgerprint sensors

into devices sold for use on their networks We expect eventual widespread integration of fingerprint sensors into
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wireless devices however the timing of adoption by wireless network carriers will have significant impact on our

future revenues In response we are working with wireless device manufacturers to accelerate adoption of fingerprint

sensors by highlighting our Power of Touch features such as personalization and navigation In addition we are

focused on improving the durability and aesthetics of our sensors for wireless devices through continued

development of our new TouchStone packaging technology

Weak macroeconomic conditions impacted customer demand in the fourth quarter of 2008 resulting in sequential

decline in revenue and net loss as compared to the third quarter of 2008 In anticipation of continued weakness in

customer demand we are taking actions to reduce our expenses including workforce reductions cancellation of our

cash bonus plan for 2009 salary reductions for select employees and reductions in numerous discretionary expenses

Description of Our Revenue Cost of Revenue and Expenses

Revenue Our revenue is generated primarily from shipments of our fingerprint authentication sensors and solutions The

price of our products is based upon market and competitive conditions Therefore the main factors that impact our revenue are

unit volumes and average selling prices

We supply our products to several end customers either directly or through their suppliers which may be ODMs contract

manufacturers or distributors The following table identifies our customers who generated 10% or more of our revenue in the

periods indicated

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29

2009 2007 2006

Inventec Corporation 18% 19% 14%

Richpower Electronic Devices Co 15 24

Compal Electronics Inc 14 15 19

Fujitsu Ltd 13 23 32

Edom Technology Co Ltd 11

LessthanlO%

The following table is based on the geographic location of OEMs ODMs and the distributors which purchased our

products For shipments to ODMs contract manufacturers or distributors their geographic location may be different from the

geographic locations of the ultimate end customers For the three years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and

December 29 2006 revenue generated from international customers accounted for approximately 97% 96% and 92%

respectively of total revenue We denominate all revenue in U.s dollars

Fiscal Year Ended

January 2009 December 28 2007 December 29 2006

Revenue of Total Revenue of Total Revenue of Total

In thousands

Asia/Pacific 48709 76% 36379 69% 17127 52%

Japan 12459 19 12548 24 11515 35

United States 1649 2181 2676

Canada 1021 917 1431

Europe 110
_______

319 425

63948 100% 52344 100% 33174 100%

Intl 97% 96% 92%

Our distributors are used primarily to support logistics including credit management and importation outside the U.S Total

revenue through distributors was $21.5 million $17.1 million and $4.7 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively which

accounted for 34% 32% and 14% of revenue respectively

Cost of revenue and gross margin We outsource all manufacturing activities associated with our products which includes

wafer fabrication wafer bumping assembly and test functions significant portion of our cost of revenue consists of the costs to

manufacture our products Cost of revenue also includes items such as equipment depreciation royalty expense production

planning personnel and related expenses warranty costs inventory valuation write-downs and stock-based compensation under

SFAS No 123 revised 2004 Share-B ased Payment SFAS 123R The primary factors that impact our cost of revenue are

the mix of products sold wafer and other raw material costs outsourced manufacturing costs and product yields In the future we
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believe cost of revenue could increase in absolute dollars from an expected increase in revenue or could decline in absolute dollars

from decrease in revenue Cost of revenue as percentage of total revenue may increase over time if decreases in average selling

prices are not offset by corresponding decreases in our product costs

We use third-party foundries bumping assembly and test subcontractors who are primarily located in Asia to manufacture

our semiconductor products We purchase processed wafers from our fabrication suppliers which are currently TSMC and

Chartered We also outsource the bumping assembly test and other processing of our products to third-party subcontractors

primarily Chipbond Signetics and ChipMOS We do not have long-term agreements with any of our third-party subcontractors

significant disruption in the operations of one or more of these subcontractors would impact the production of our products and

could have material adverse impact on our business financial condition and results of operation

Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by variety of factors including average selling prices of our

products product mix and timing of cost reductions for outsourced manufacturing services inventory write downs and the timing

and changes in production yields In addition we tend to experience lower yields on the initial production release of new

product

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses primarily include personnel the cost of

fabrication masks engineering development software depreciation associated with capital equipment third- party development

support allocated facilities expense and stock-based compensation under SFAS 123R All research and development costs are

expensed as incurred

We believe that research and development expenses could continue to increase in absolute dollars in the future as we

increase our investment in developing new products Additionally as percentage of revenue these costs fluctuate from one

period to another

Selling and marketing expenses Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and commissions for our sales

and marketing personnel independent sales representative commissions travel marketing communications press releases

advertising costs for tradeshows marketing programs allocated facilities expense consultants and market studies and stock-

based compensation under SFAS 123R As we align our operating expenses with current economic conditions we expect selling

and marketing expenses to decrease in absolute dollars

General and administrative expenses General and administrative expenses consist primarily of general corporate costs

including personnel expenses financial reporting corporate governance and compliance and outside legal audit tax compliance

fees allocated facilities expense and stock-based compensation under SFAS 123R As we align our operating expenses with

current economic conditions we expect general and administrative expenses to decrease on an absolute dollar basis though legal

expenses associated with our lawsuits could offset these expense reductions

Other income expense net Other income expense net includes interest income earned on our short term and long term

investments of cash and cash equivalents and interest expense incurred on our borrowings It also includes adjustments we made

to record our preferred stock warrants at fair value in accordance with FSP FAS 150-5 Issuers Accounting under Statement

150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar Instruments on Shares That Are Redeemable FSP 150-5 Upon the July

2007 closing of our initial public offering these warrants converted into warrants to purchase shares of our common stock and as

result the liability was reclassified to additional paid in capital We do not anticipate future charges of this nature

Provision for income taxes As of January 2009 we had federal net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $48.9

million These federal net operating loss carry forwards will expire commencing in 2018 Utilization of these net operating loss

carry forwards may be subject to an annual limitation due to provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended that

are applicable if we have experienced an ownership change in the past or if an ownership change occurs in the future

aggregated with certain other sales of our stock after our initial public offering

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial statements

which have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP These accounting

principles require us to make certain estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the

dates of the consolidated financial statements the disclosure of contingencies as of the dates of the consolidated financial

statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the periods represented Although we believe that our

judgments and estimates are reasonable under the circumstances actual results may differ from those estimates

We believe the following are our most critical accounting policies because they are important to understanding our financial

condition and results of operations and they require critical management judgment and estimates about matters that are uncertain
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Revenue recognition

Product warranty

Inventory valuation

Litigation related expenses

Accounting for income taxes

Estimation of fair value of warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock

Stock-based compensation and

Fair value measurements

If actual results or events differ materially from those contemplated by us in making these estimates our reported fmancial

condition and results of operations for future periods could be materially affected See Risk Factors for certain matters that may

affect our future financial condition or results of operations

Revenue recognition We recognize revenue from product sales to customers when products are shipped the title and risk of

loss has passed to the customer the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured Our sales to

certain distributors are made under arrangements allowing for limited returns or credits under certain circumstances and we defer

recognition of revenue on sales to these distributors until the products are resold by the distributor to the end customer We assess

the ability to collect from our customers based on number of factors including credit worthiness and any past transaction history

of the customer If the customer is not deemed credit worthy we may defer all revenue from the arrangement until payment is

received and other revenue recognition criteria have been met

Product warranty We offer one-year product replacement warranty In general our standard policy is to either credit or

replace the defective units We accrue for estimated returns of defective products based on historical activity for the prior twelve

months at the time revenue is recognized as well as for specific known product issues The determination of these accruals

requires us to make estimates of the frequency and extent of warranty activity and estimate future costs to replace the products

under warranty If the actual warranty activity and/or repair and replacement costs differ significantly from these estimates

adjustments to recognize additional cost of revenue may be required in future periods

Inventory valuation Inventory consisting principally of outsourced semiconductor products is valued at the lower of cost

or market We utilize standard costing application which approximates the first-in first-out method We evaluate inventory for

excess and obsolescence and write down units that are unlikely to be sold based upon twelve month demand forecast This

evaluation takes into account various matters including expected demand product obsolescence and other factors If actual future

demand for our products is less than currently forecasted additional inventory adjustments may be required Once reserve is

established it is maintained until the product to which it relates is sold or scrapped If unit that has been written down or off is

subsequently sold the cost associated with the revenue from this unit is reduced to the extent of the write down resulting in an

increase in gross profit

Litigation related expenses We accrue litigation related legal expenses if these costs are probable and estimable regardless

of whether liability can be estimated for the loss contingency itself If actual and forecasted legal expenses differ from these

estimates adjustments to this account may be required in future periods

Accounting for income taxes We account for income taxes under the provisions of SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income

Taxes or SFAS 109 In applying SFAS 109 we are required to estimate our current tax expense together with assessing

temporary differences resulting from differing treatments of items for tax and accounting purposes These differences result in

deferred tax assets and liabilities Significant management judgment is required to assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets

will be recovered from future taxable income As of January 2009 our total deferred tax assets were principally comprised of

net operating loss carry forwards

Estimation offair value of warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock On June 29 2005 the FASB issued FSP 150-

FSP 150-5 affirms that warrants to purchase shares of our mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock are subject to the

requirements in FSP 150-5 and requires us to classif these warrants as liabilities and revalue them to fair value at the end of each

reporting period We adopted FSP 150-5 in July 2005 and recorded charge in the amount of $4.5 million for the cumulative

effect of the change in accounting principle to reflect the estimated fair value of the warrants as of that date We recorded charges

of $9.6 million $2.2 million and $0.9 million in other income expense net for 2007 2006 and 2005 respectively to reflect

increases in the estimated fair value of the warrants
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Upon the July 2007 close of our initial public offering these warrants became exercisable for common stock and the

associated liability was reclassified to additional-paid-in-capital

Stock-based compensation Effective January 2006 we adopted SFAS 123R which requires the measurement and

recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including employee

stock options based on estimated fair values recognized over the requisite service period We used the prospective transition

method under which SFAS 123R is applied to new awards and to awards modified repurchased or cancelled after January

2006

We estimate the fair value of options granted from and after January 2006 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing

valuation model This valuation model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the

calculations These variables and assumptions include the fair value of our common stock the weighted average period of time

that the options granted are expected to be outstanding the estimated volatility of comparable companies the risk free interest rate

and the estimated rate of forfeitures of unvested stock options If actual forfeitures differ from our estimates we will record the

difference as an adjustment in the period we revise our estimates From January 2006 to January 2007 the fair value of our

common stock was determined using enterprise values based on discounted cash flow approach The enterprise valuation was

allocated between our various securities using the option-pricing method For options granted on February 21 2007 and through

June 27 2007 the fair value of our common stock was determined using weighted average of discounted cash flow comparable

transactions and market comparables After June 27 2007 we used the NASDAQ closing price

For the period of January 2006 through June 29 2007 we used the simplified calculation of expected life described in

the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin 107 and we estimated our stocks volatility based on an

average
of historical volatilities of the common stock of several entities with characteristics similar to us Given our current public

company status for stock options granted after June 29 2007 we refined our pool of peer companies that reflect characteristics

similar to us taking into account industry trends market capitalization annual revenue option life and option vesting terms

During the quarter ended October 2008 we have introduced our common stock volatility in addition to the pool of peer

companies in order to move towards more reliance on our volatility over time The risk-free rate is based on U.S Treasury

securities We estimated expected forfeitures based on our historical experience Furthermore if different assumptions are used in

future periods stock-based compensation expense could be materially impacted in the future

Fair Value Measurements Effective December 29 2007 we adopted SFAS 157 Fair Value Measurements which defines

fair value provides consistent framework for measuring fair value under accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States and expands fair value fmancial statement disclosure requirements SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value

measurements It only applies to accounting pronouncements that already require or permit fair value measures except for

standards that relate to share-based payments SFAS 123R Share Based Payment SFAS 13 and other accounting

pronouncements that address fair value measurements for purposes of lease classification or measurement under SFAS 13

We determine the fair value of our available for sale securities using the criteria of SFAS No 157 This accounting

standard among other things defmes fair value establishes consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands

disclosure for each major asset and liability category measured at fair value on either recurring or nonrecurring basis

SFAS No 157 clarifies that fair value is an exit price representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to

transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants As such fair value is market-based measurement that

should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability As basis for

considering such assumptions SFAS No 157 establishes three-tier fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in

measuring fair value as follows

Level Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets

Level Inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly and

Level Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data which require the reporting entity to develop

its own assumptions

We estimate the fair value of our auction rate securities based on the following the underlying structure of each security

ii the present value of future principal and interest payments discounted at rates considered to reflect current market conditions

iii consideration of the probabilities of default passing future auction or repurchase at par for each period and iv estimates

of the liquidity risk for each security These estimated fair values could change significantly based on future market conditions

We review declines in the fair value of our investments in marketable securities in accordance with Financial Accounting

Standards Board FASB Staff Position FSP SFAS 115-1 and 124-1 The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment

and Its Application to Certain Investments to determine the classification of the impairment as temporary or other than
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temporary temporary impairment charge results in an unrealized loss being recorded in the other comprehensive income

component of stockholders equity Unrealized losses are recognized in our consolidated statement of operations when decline

in fair value is determined to be other than temporary We review our investments on an ongoing basis for indications of possible

impairment and if impairment is identified we determine whether the impairment is temporary or other than temporary

Determination of whether the impairment is temporary or other than temporary requires significant judgment The primary factors

that we consider in classifing the impairment include the extent and period of time the fair value of each investment has declined

below its cost basis the expected holding or recovery period for each investment and our intent and ability to hold each

investment until
recovery

Refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources section and Item Financial Statements4 Fair Value Measurements

for further discussion of our investments in marketable securities

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for recent accounting pronouncements that could have an effect

onus
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected statement of operations data for the periods indicated expressed as percentage of

revenue

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 Deiember 29
2009 2007 2006

Revenue 100% 100% 100%

Cost of revenue 52 53 58

Gross profit 48 47 42

Expenses

Research and development 26 25 29

Selling and marketing 15 17 22

General and administrative 10 11 15

Total expenses 51 53 66

Loss from operations 24
Other income expense

Warrant expense 18
Interest expense

Impairment on investments

Interest income

Total other income expense net 15
Income loss before income tax expense _____________

21 30
Income tax expense

Net income loss 0% 21% 30%

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007

Revenue Our revenue was $63.9 million in 2008 as compared to $52.3 million in 2007 an increase of $11.6 million or

22% Our revenue growth was primarily attributable new design-wins reaching commercial production in the PC market as well

as platform expansions at existing customers

Cost of revenue and gross profit Our cost of revenue for 2008 was $33.4 million as compared to $27.6 million in 2007

resulting in gross profit of $30.6 million in 2008 as compared to $24.8 million in 2007 an increase of $5.8 million or 23% Our

gross margin was 48% in 2008 as compared to 47% in 2007 The increase in
gross margin in 2008 was primarily attributable to

improved manufacturing yields and lower manufacturing costs

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses were $16.5 million in 2008 as compared to $12.9

million in 2007 an increase of $3.6 million or 28% Research and development expenses were 26% and 25% of revenue for 2008

and 2007 respectively The increase in 2008 was primarily due to an increase of $2.3 million in personnel and related costs

including $0.5 million in stock-based compensation expense as the headcount increased by 15 employees to 83 employees

worldwide at January 2009 An increase of $1.2 million in outside services included the purchase of software for $0.3 million

and the remainder was attributed to additional contract labor to support new design-win activities

Selling and marketing expenses Selling and marketing expenses were $9.5 million in 2008 as compared to $9.1 million in

2007 an increase of $0.4 million or 4% Selling and marketing expenses were 15% and 17% of revenue for 2008 and 2007

respectively The increase in 2008 was mostly attributable to $0.8 million increase in personnel and hiring related costs including

stock-based compensation of $0.5 million These increases were offset by lower travel expenses of $0.2 million and decrease in

outside services by $0.2 million

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses were $6.6 million in 2008 as compared to $5.8

million in 2007 an increase of $0.8 million or 14% General and administrative expenses were 10% and 11% of revenue for 2008

and 2007 respectively The increase in absolute dollars in 2008 was primarily due to higher legal fees of $0.5 million as result

of patent litigation and the defense of the class action law suit filed against us In addition audit and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance

related fees increased by $0.2 million and facilities costs increased by $0.1 million

Other income expense net Other income expense net increased $9.9 million to net income of $2.0 million in 2008

from net expense of $7.9 million in 2007 $9.6 million warrant revaluation expense was recognized in 2007 in accordance with
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FSP 150-5 Interest income increased by $0.5 million due to the timing of proceeds received from our initial public offering that

were invested into various short-term and long-term investments such as corporate bonds notes auction rate securities U.S

treasuries and government agency funds

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006

Revenue Our revenue was $52.3 million in 2007 as compared to $33.2 million in 2006 an increase of $19.2 million or

58% Our revenue growth has been driven primarily by an expansion of PC market demand with our sensors being deployed in

more laptop models The growth in revenue also reflected new design-wins reaching commercial production as well as platform

expansions at existing customers

Cost of revenue and gross profit Our cost of revenue for 2007 was $27.6 million as compared to $19.3 million in 2006

resulting in gross profit of $24.8 million in 2007 as compared to $13.9 million in 2006 an increase of $10.9 million or 78%
Our gross margin was 47% in 2007 as compared to 42% in 2006 The increase in gross margin in 2007 was primarily attributable

to favorable product mix improved manufacturing yields and lower manufacturing costs

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses were $12.9 million in 2007 as compared to $9.6

million in 2006 an increase of $3.3 million or 34% Research and development expenses were 25% and 29% of revenue for 2007

and 2006 respectively The increase in 2007 was primarily due to an increase of $1.7 million in personnel and related costs

including $0.3 million in stock-based compensation expense as the headcount increased by seven employees to 67 employees

worldwide at December 28 2007 Contract labor and consulting services increased by $0.6 million and engineering design tools

increased by $0.5 million as we devoted substantial resources to the development of additional functionality for existing products

and the development of new products

Selling and marketing expenses Selling and marketing expenses were $9.1 million in 2007 as compared to $7.1 million in

2006 an increase of $2.0 million or 28% Selling and marketing expenses were 17% and 21% of revenue for 2007 and 2006

respectively The increase in absolute dollars in 2007 resulted from $0.6 million increase in personnel and related costs including

$0.2 million in stock-based compensation expense as we hired new employees during the year to support our growing business

Further sales commissions increased by $0.5 million due to higher revenues and increased sales personnel Outside services

increased by $0.6 million as we expanded our public relations and marketing programs

General and administrative expenses General and administrative expenses were $5.8 million in 2007 as compared to $5
million in 2006 an increase of $0.7 million or 14% General and administrative expenses were 11% and 15% of revenue for 2007

and 2006 respectively Personnel and related costs increased by $1.5 million including stock-based compensation of $0.5

million as headcount grew from 13 in 2006 to 18 in 2007 Outside services increased by $1.6 million as result of public

company status which required additional audit and consulting fees corporate governance legal costs as well as directors and

officers related expenses The increase in general and administrative expenses was offset by $2.7 million decrease in legal fees as

result of Atmel litigation related expense accrued in 2006

Other income expense net Other income expense net increased $6.0 million to net expense of $7.9 million in 2007

from net expense of $1.9 million in 2006 $7.5 million warrant revaluation expense was recognized in accordance with FSP 150-

that was offset by an increase of $1.5 million in interest income as the proceeds from our initial public offering were invested

into various short-term and long-term investments such as corporate bonds notes auction rate securities and certificates of

deposit

Selected Quarterly Financial Information

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations for each of the eight most

recent fiscal quarters ended January 2009 We have prepared the unaudited quarterly fmancial information on basis consistent

with the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K and the financial information reflects all necessary

adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair statement of our financial position and operating

results for the quarters presented The results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results of the

operations for any future period
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For the Three Months Ended

January October June 27 March 28 December 28 September 28 June 29 March 30

2009 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

In thousands except per share data

Revenue 11615 18409 18410 15514 15693 15057 12300 9295

Cost of revenue 6325 9735 9509 7828 7857 7905 6778 5015

Gross profit 5290 8674 8901 7686 7836 7152 5522 4280

Expenses

Researchanddevelopment1
3546 4619 4196 4098 3557 3529 3016 2774

Sellingandmarketmg1 1692 2710 2592 2472 2735 2315 2077 1985

Generalandadministrative1
1526 1353 2033 1668 1440 1616 1226 1467

Total expenses 6764 8682 8821 8238 7732 7460 6319 6226

Incomelossfromoperations 1474 80 552 104 308 797 1946

Other income expense

Warraflt expense 5884 3753

Interest expense
78 26

impairment on investments 266

Interest income 396 558 571 740 794 830 103 70

Totalotherincomeexpensenet 130 558 571 740 794 825 5859 3709

Income loss before income tax

expense 1344 550 651 188 898 517 6656 5655

Income tax expense

Netincomeloss 1344 550 651 188 898 517 6656 5655

Net income loss per common share

basic .05 .02 .02 .01 .03 .02 7.37 7.30

Net income loss per common share

diluted .05 .02 .02 .01 .03 .02 7.37 7.30

Shares used in computing basic net

income loss per common share

28622 28501 28304 27927 27104 25944 903 774

Shares used in computing diluted net

income loss per common share

28622 30317 30618 30525 30643 30103 903 774

Includes charges for stock-based

compensation

Cost of revenue 23 35 36 15 14 16 12

Research and development 209 258 172 134 141 96 66 43

Selling and

marketing 150 249 175 92 78 61 56 19

General and administrative 203 299 210 158 136 169 66 109

Total 585 841 593 399 369 342 200 175

The following table sets forth our unaudited historical operating results on quarterly basis as percentage of revenue for

the periods indicated above

For the Three Months Ended

January October June 27 March 28 December 28 September 28 June 29 March 30

2009 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

Revenue

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Cost of revenue

54 53 51 51 50 52 55 54

Gross profit

46 47 49 49 50 48 45 46

Expenses

Research and

development

31 25 23 26 23 24 25 30

Selling and marketing

15 15 14 16 17 15 17 21

General and

administrative

13 11 11 10 10 16
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For the Three Months Ended

January October June 27 March 28 December 28 September 28 June 29 March 30

2009 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007

Total expenses

58 47 48 53 49 50 51 67

Income loss from

operations

13 21
Other income

expense

Warrant expense

48 41
Interest expense

Impairment on

investments

Interest income

Total other income

expense net

48 40
Income loss before

income tax

expense 12 54 61

Income tax expense

Net income loss

12% 3% 4% 1% 3% 54% 61%

Our revenue increased sequentially or remained relatively flat during each of the quarters indicated with the exception

of the fourth quarter of 2008 The increase in revenue during the periods was primarily due to the increase in our shipments to

the PC market Our growth reflects new design wins reaching commercial production driven by increased demand by

consumers and businesses for fingerprint sensors on their PCs During fourth quarter of 2008 we experienced sequential

decline in revenue as compared to the third quarter of 2008 as customer demand was impacted by weakening macroeconomic

conditions We expect the weakened macroeconomic conditions to continue in 2009 which will adversely impact our revenue

Our gross margins have fluctuated from quarter to quarter due to several factors including changes in product mix and

lower manufacturing costs timing of new product introductions and manufacturing yields Improvements in manufacturing yields

on high volume sensors were the primary drivers of the increased margins during 2007 and the first half of 2008 Product mix and

inventory allowance were the primary contributors to the lower margin results experienced in the second half of 2008

With the exception of the fourth quarter of 2008 our operating expenses have generally increased in each of the quarters

presented as we added personnel and incurred related costs to accommodate the growth of our business Our research and

development costs increased sequentially in each quarter of 2007 and first three quarters of 2008 as we devoted substantial

resources to the continued development of additional functionality for existing products and the design and development of new

products During the fourth quarter of 2008 our research and development costs declined due to decreased headcount as well as

the timing of tape outs Selling and marketing expenses increased sequentially in each quarter of 2007 as related personnel costs

and sales commissions increased as result of additional headcount and higher revenues significant increase in sales and

marketing expense in the fourth quarter of 2007 was the result of additional incentive compensation due to our and individual

employee performance exceeding targets During the third quarter of 2008 we experienced an increase in personnel and hiring

related costs Due to efforts to reduce spending our selling and marketing costs decreased in the fourth quarter of 2008 mostly

associated with savings in labor and travel expenses General and administrative expenses were significantly higher in the second

quarter of 2008 as we incurred additional legal fees associated with the Atmel and Atrua litigation Legal costs declined in the

third quarter of 2008 resulting in reduced general and administrative costs largely driven by the proceeds related to the settlement

of lawsuit

In the accordance with FSP 150-5 we classif the warrants on our preferred stock as liabilities and adjust our warrant

instruments to fair value at each reporting period Subsequent to our initial public offering on July 2007 and the associated

conversion of our outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock to common stock the warrants to purchase shares of

redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted to warrants to purchase an equivalent number of shares of our common
stock and the related carrying value of such warrants was reclassified to an additional paid-in-capital and the warrants are no

longer subject to remeasurement
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Interest income increased significantly in the third quarter of 2007 as we received proceeds from our initial public offering

and invested in various short-term and long-term investments Interest income declined in the second quarter of 2008 and

sequentially in the following quarters due to drop in interest rates as well as change in our investment strategy where proceeds

from matured investments were reinvested into U.S Treasury and U.S government agency funds

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception we have financed our growth primarily with funds generated from the issuance and sale of our

common stock preferred stock and senior secured convertible debt Our cash cash equivalents and short term and long term

investments were $68.7 million as of January 2009 an increase of $2.3 million from December 28 2007 The increase in our

cash cash equivalents and investments as of January 2009 was primarily attributable to the cash generated by operations

collection of accounts receivable and proceeds received form stock option exercises This was partially offset by increases in

inventory purchases of property and equipment and payment of legal fees associated with the Atmel litigation

Twelve Months Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

In thousands

Consolidated statement of cash flows data

Purchase of property and equipment 1921 1996 852

Cash flows from operating activities 4470 2547 3392
Cash flows from investing activities 24412 52316 8602

Cash flows from financing activities 608 64490 176

Operating activities Net cash provided by used in operating activities was $4.5 million $2.5 million and $3.4 million

in fiscal years ended 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal year 2008 was

primarily attributable to net income before stock-based compensation and depreciation and amortization decrease in accounts

receivable due to collections offset by increase in inventory due to new product builds and decrease in accrued litigation expenses

due to payment of legal expenses
associated with the Atmel lawsuit which was settled in the third quarter of 2008 Net cash used

in operating activities for 2007 was primarily due to increases in accounts receivable inventory and prepaid expenses related to

licensed design tools offset by increases in accounts payable due to growth in revenue Net cash used in operating activities for

2006 was due to the net loss incurred in the year partly offset by reduction in accounts receivable

Investing activities Net cash provided by used in investing activities was $24.4 million $52.3 million and $8.6 million

for fiscal years ended 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Net cash provided by investing activities in 2008 was mostly due to

redemption of investments net of purchases of $26.7 million that were reinvested in U.S treasury and U.S government agency

funds due to current market instability offset by purchase of property and equipment of $1.9 million as well as purchase of

research and development software of $0.3 million and purchase of intellectual property of $0.1 million Net cash used in 2007

was primarily attributable to purchases of short-term and long-term investments net of redemptions of $50.3 million and

purchase of equipment of $2.0 million In 2006 we redeemed $9.5 million of short term investments to finance cash used in

operating activities and the purchase of property and equipment and to transfer the cash into more liquid instruments in

anticipation of cash requirements in the first half of 2007

We purchased property and equipment of $1.9 million $2.0 million and $0.9 million in fiscal years 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively primarily for equipment used by our third-party manufacturing subcontractors Although we do not operate

manufacturing facilities under our business model we do provide certain custom assembly and test related equipment to our

subcontractors for use in manufacturing our products We anticipate that purchases of property and equipment may increase to the

extent we invest in new products which require custom assembly and test related equipment

Financing Activities Net cash provided by our financing activities was $0.6 million $64.5 million and $0.2 million for

fiscal years 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Net cash provided in 2008 was mostly attributable to cash received from the

exercise of stock options Net cash provided in 2007 was due primarily to the net proceeds of $55.9 million received from our

initial public offering and the issuance of our $7.4 million of senior secured convertible notes net of issuance costs These

convertible notes were purchased by existing preferred stockholders or their affiliates Interest on the notes was 4.0% per annum

payable semi-annually with all payments of interest until December 31 2008 being paid in shares of our common stock and

thereafter in cash The notes and accrued interest were converted into shares of our common stock at the rate of $6.00 per share

upon the July 2007 closing of our initial public offering Cash provided by financing activities in 2006 was due to proceeds

from the exercise of stock options

Our investment policies are designed to provide liquidity preserve capital and achieve an acceptable return on invested

assets As of January 2009 our investment portfolio consisted primarily of U.S treasury and U.S government agency funds

and fixed-income securities The weighted average maturity is less than twelve months We utilize investment vehicles such as
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treasuries U.S government agency funds commercial paper certificates of deposit auction rate securities and corporate and
Euro bonds

As of January 2009 $5.3 million of our $23.5 million in short-term and long-term investments were comprised of

municipal notes preferred stock investments and student loan backed security with an auction reset feature auction rate

securities The municipal notes are issued by various state and local municipal entities for the purpose of public projects and
other activities All of the municipal notes carry AA credit ratings or above The preferred stock is issued by various closed-end
mutual funds that invest primarily in common stock and fixed income securities All of the preferred stock investments carry

AAA credit ratings The student loan backed auction rate security is state issued higher education loan which is substantially

insured by the U.S government

Liquidity for these auction rate securities is typically provided by an auction
process which allows holders to sell their notes

and resets the applicable interest rate at pre-determined intervals usually every seven 28 or 35 days In mid- February 2008 the

auction rate securities markets became disrupted and we experienced auction failures for the first time An auction failure means
that the parties wishing to sell their securities could not be matched with an adequate volume of buyers In the event that there is

failed auction the indenture governing the security requires the issuer to pay interest at contractually defined rate that is

generally above market rates for other types of similar short-term instruments The securities for which auctions have failed will

continue to accrue interest at the contractual rate and be auctioned every seven 28 or 35 days until the auction succeeds the issuer

calls the securities or they mature As result our ability to liquidate and fully recover the carrying value of our remaining
auction rate securities in the near term may be limited These developments resulted in the classification of these securities as

long-term investments in our consolidated financial statements at January 2009 Furthermore during the three months ended

June 27 2008 one of our auction rate securities was no longer valued by the pricing vendor utilized by our investment broker and
therefore was measured using unobservable inputs We measured the fair value of this auction rate security using discounted

cash flow model and applied discount rate of AAA rated corporate bonds with two year maturity further discounted to

incorporate lack of liquidity in the student loan backed ARS market As result of this valuation we recorded temporary

impairment charge of $0.2 million on this investment for the quarter ended June 27 2008 There was no change in the impairment
amount during the three months ended October 2008 During the quarter ended January 2009 we recorded additional $0.1

million impairment on the above investment using our valuation model and determined that the impairment of this student loan
backed auction rate security is other-than-temporary based on no activity during the last six months and no indication of intent or

ability for the issuer to call or repay the debt Due to the highly illiquid nature of the underlying student loan securities it is not

highly probable that we will have the ability to hold this security until it is liquidated by the issuer or until the market for this

security recovers

During the quarter ending October 2008 the financial market for debt securities started to see decreasing trading activity

as investors became concerned about liquidity in financial institutions As result several of our Bonds and Notes which were
issued by financial institutions experienced significant decline in trading volume and the market for these specific debt securities

was considered inactive as of October 2008 These debt securities were transferred to Level during the three months ended

october 2008 due to the fact that there were no active markets for such securities and therefore we could no longer rely on the

valuation of the pricing vendor utilized by our investment broker since the observable inputs were not obtainable The pricing

provided by our investment broker on these inactively trading debt securities were based on very low volume of trades that were

likely forced liquidations or distressed sales and were not part of orderly transactions We measured the fair value of these

securities using discounted cash flow model that incorporated discount rates of corporate bonds with similar credit ratings

adjusted for our estimate of default risk and spread premiums for the specific issuers As result of this valuation we recorded

temporary impairment charge of $0.2 million on these investments for the quarter ended October 2008

During the quarter ended January 2009 the market for these securities improved and we confirmed with our investment
broker that active trading had resumed Based on the availability of observable inputs we transferred these securities from Level
to Level during the quarter ended January 2009 and reduced temporary impairment charge from $0.2 million at October
2008 to $0.1 million at January 2009

We believe that even if we hold all such securities for an indefinite period of time our remaining cash and cash equivalents
and short-term investments will be sufficient to support our projected operating requirements over the next twelve months Our
long-term future capital requirements will depend on many factors including our level of revenue the timing and extent of

spending to support our research and development efforts the expansion of selling and marketing activities acquisitions the

timing of our introductions of new products the costs to ensure access to adequate manufacturing capacity and the continuing
market acceptance of our products We could be required or could elect to seek additional funding through public or private

equity or debt financing These additional funds may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all
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Contractual Obligations

The following table describes our contractual obligations as of January 2009

Less than
More than

Total year 1-3 years
3-5 years years

In thousands

Operating Leases $5300 877 1638 1825 960

Inventory purchase commitments 557 557

Total
$5857 1434 1638 $1825 960

Open purchase obligations represent inventory commitments These obligations are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements until

commitments are fulfilled and such obligations are subject to change based on negotiations with manufacturers

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet arrangements transactions obligations or other relationships with unconsolidated

entities that would be expected to have material current or future effect upon our financial condition or results of operations

Item 7A Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosure about Market Risks

Foreign currency risk All of our revenue is presently
denominated in U.S dollars We therefore have no foreign currency

risk associated with sales of our products at this time However we do have risk of our products being more expensive outside the

United States if the value of the U.S dollar increases as compared to the local currency of our customer This could result in

pricing pressure
lower revenue and lower gross margins Our international sales and research and development operations incur

expenses
that are denominated in foreign currencies These expenses could be materially affected by currency fluctuations

However we do not presently consider this currency
risk to be material as the related costs do not presently constitute

significant portion of our total spending

Interest rate risk We had cash cash equivalents and investments of $68.7 million as of January 2009 which were held

for working capital and strategic purposes The primary objectives of our investment activity are to preserve principal provide

liquidity and achieve an acceptable return without significantly increasing the risk Some of the securities we invest in are subject

to market risk This means that change in prevailing interest rates may cause the principal amount of the investment to fluctuate

To minimize this risk and reduce exposure we maintain our portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term and long-term

investments in investment grade securities that are primarily of conservative nature Since our results of operations are not

dependent on investments the risk associated with fluctuating interest rates is limited to our investment portfolio and we believe

that 10% change in interest rates would not have significant impact on our results from operations

Market risk Our short term and long term investments consist of money market funds certificates of deposit auction rate

securities corporate and Euro bonds and medium and short-term notes that are exposed to certain risks Although these various

investments are managed to standard designed to avoid principal loss market forces can have an adverse effect on asset

valuations and it is possible for these investment grade securities to lose portion of the principal The ability to determine the

risks presented by these investments is limited by among other things restrictions on the ability to know the holdings or the

collateral backing of the securities

At January 2009 we held $5.3 million in auction rate securities and consider them inactively traded securities The rate

of interest paid on the auction rate securities is determined at auctions held at pre-determined intervals usually every seven 28 or

35 days If sufficient clearing bids are not made in particular auction that can result in the inability to liquidate the asset-backed

securities in the auction All of our auction rate securities held as of January 2009 had experienced
failed auctions although

some of them were called by the issuers during the year
ended January 2009 There can be no assurance that auctions on the

auction rate securities in our investment portfolio will succeed If the issuers are unable to successfully close future auctions and

their credit ratings deteriorate the fair value of those auction rate securities may decline even further and we may record

additional temporary or other than temporary impairment charges

Credit ratings and the market for debt securities may continue to worsen which may also require us to record other than

temporary impairment charges For more information on fair value assumptions please see Note Fair Value Measurements of

the financial statements
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Item Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of AuthenTec Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item l5al present fairly in all material

respects the fmancial position of AuthenTec Inc and its subsidiaries the Company at January 2009 and December 28 2007

and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 2009 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in our opinion the

financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item l5a2 presents fairly in all material respects the

information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the

Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over fmancial reporting as of January 2009 based on

criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for these financial statements and financial

statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of

internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Annual Report on Internal control over Financial Reporting

appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on these fmancial statements on the financial statement

schedule and on the Companys internal control over fmancial reporting based on our audits which was an integrated audit in

2008 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over fmancial reporting was maintained in all

material respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide

reasonable basis for our opinions

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements effective December 29 2007 the Company changed the manner in

which it measures fair value in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 Fair Value Measurements

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over fmancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of

the assets of the company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the

company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iiiprovide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys
assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over fmancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tampa Florida

March 18 2009
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AuthenTec Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands

As of

January December 28
2009 2007

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 45193 15703

Short-term investments 18132 42573

Accounts receivable net of allowances of $41 and $23 respectively 3985 6374

Inventory 5770 5120

Other current assets 839 820

Total current assets 73919 70590

Long-term investments 5334 8066

Other long-term assets 494 673

Property and equipment net 3716 2605

Total assets 83463 81934

Liabifities and stockholders equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 4050 3917

Accrued compensation and benefits 1505 1998

Other accrued liabilities 3422 4983

Total current liabilities 8977 10898

Deferred Rent 417

Total liabilities 9394 10898

Commitments and contingencies see note

Stockholders equity

Common stock $.01 par value 100000 shares authorized 28628 and 27745 issued

and outstanding at January 2009 and December 28 2007 286 277

Additional paid-in capital 149837 146729

Other comprehensive loss 129
Accumulated deficit 75925 75970

Total stockholders equity 74069 71036

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 83463 81934

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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AuthenTec Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations

In thousands except per share data

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

Revenue
63948 52344 33174

Cost of revenue 33397 27554 19264

Gross profit 30551 24790 13910

Operating expenses

Research and development 16459 12876 963 IL

Selling and marketing 9466 9112 7067
General and administrative 6580 5750 5084

Total operating expenses 32505 27738 21782

Loss from operations 1954 2948 7872

Other income expense
Warrant expense 9637 2195
Interest expense 110
Impairment on investments 266
Interest income 2265 1798 285

Total other income expense net 7949 1910

Income loss before income tax expense 45 10897 9782

Income tax expense

Net income loss 45 10897 9782

Net income loss per common share basic 0.00 0.80 15.18
Net income loss per common share diluted 0.00 0.80 15.18

Shares used in computing basic net income loss per common share 28339 13681 644

Shares used in computing diluted net income loss per common share 30308 13681 644

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Page 44 of 70



AuthenTec Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity Deficit

In thousands

Junior Convertible Accumulated

Preferred Stock Common Stock
_____________________ Additional Other

Number Par Number Par Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive

of Shares Value of Shares Value Capital Deficit Income Loss Total Equity

Balance December 31 2005 4500 45 478 1213 55291 54028

Exercise of stock options
266 174 176

Stock-based compensation
95 95

Net loss 9782 9782

Balance December 29 2006 4500 45 744 1482 65073 63539

Exercise of stock options
342 160 164

Exercise of warrants 977 581 590

Stock-based compensation
1086 1086

Reclassification of Warrant Liability 9199 9199

Conversion ofJr Preferred Stock 4500 45 1125 11 34

Conversion of Redeemable Preferred

Stock 17671 177 70788 70965

Conversion of Senior Secured

Convertible Notes and asociated

accrued interest net of issuance

costs 1260 13 7504 7517

Proceeds from initial public offering

net of offering costs 5625 56 55887 55943

Issuance of Common stock

Net loss 10897 10897

BalanceDecember282007 27745 277 146729 75970 71036

Exercise of stock options
837 665 674

Exercise of warrants 44

Stock-based compensation 2418 2418

Issuance of Common stock
25 25

Unrealized loss on investments 129 129

Net income
45 45

Balance January 2009 28628 $286 149837 75925 129 74069

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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AuthenTec Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In thousands

Twelve Months Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss 45 10897 9782
Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 1085 826 468

Amortization of deferred Rent

Increase decrease in bad debt provision 18 52 45
Increase in inventory provision 422 590 343

Stock-based compensation expense 2418 1086 95

Warrant expense 9637 2195
Interest accrued on senior secured convertible notes 110

Decrease increase in investment discounts/premiums 75 310
Impairment on investments 266

Purchase of research and development software 250

Decrease increase in assets

Accounts receivable 2371 2625 890

Inventory 1072 1211 886
Other assets 278 1273 192

Increase decrease in liabilities

Accounts payable 54 1662 241

Accrued compensation and benefits and other accrued liabilities 2135 90 3281
Lease incentive 500

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 4470 2547 3392
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 1921 1996 852
Purchase of research and development software 250
Purchase of intellectual property 120
Purchase of available-for-sale investments 7008 64661 5846
Redemption of available-for-sale investments 41132 40641 15300

Purchase of held-to-maturity investments 16940 28300
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments 9519 2000

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 24412 52316 8602

Cash flows from financing activities

Deferred initial public offering costs 66
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 674 164 176

Proceeds from exercise of preferred and common stock warrants 910

Proceeds from the issuance of senior secured convertible notes net of issuance costs 7407

Proceeds from initial public offering of common stock net of offering costs
_________ 56009

___________

Net cash provided by fmancing activities 608 64490 176

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 29490 9627 5386
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 15703 6076 690

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 45193 15703 6076

Supplemental non-cash disclosures

Accrued purchase of property and equipment 273

Exercise of 1595 preferred stock warrants 3558

Exercise of 54 common stock warrants 137

Redemption of shares on exercise of 158590 stock options 63

Stock issuance 25

Accrued deferred offering costs 66

Reclassification of warrant liability to equity upon initial public offering 9199

Reclassification of senior secured convertible notes and associated accrued interest to equity

upon initial public offering 7610

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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AuthenTec Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

AuthenTec Inc Delaware corporation incorporated in 1998 for the purpose of developing and commercializing certain

Harris Corporation technology In 1998 we entered into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement with HVFM-V L.P

HVFM venture capital affiliate of Harris Corporation for the rights title and interests under Technology Transfer

Agreement between HYFM and Harris Corporation

Nature of Business

We are leading mixed-signal semiconductor company providing fingerprint authentication sensors and solutions to the PC

and wireless device markets Our products are based on our patented TruePrint technology which uses radio-frequency signals to

detect fingerprint patterns from the live highly-conductive layer of skin that lies just beneath the skins dry outer surface layer

We primarily sell our products to original equipment manufacturers or OEMs original design manufacturers or ODMs or

contract manufacturers We operate fabless manufacturing model whereby manufacturing requirements are outsourced to third

parties

Initial Public Offr ring

On July 2007 we completed our initial public offering selling 5625000 shares of our common stock and yielding

approximately $56000 common stock and $55887000 additional paid in capital proceeds to us net of offering costs of

approximately $1600000 At that time all shares of our outstanding convertible preferred stock were converted into

approximately 18796000 shares of common stock resulting in an incease in common stock of approximately 188000 and an

increase in additional paid in capital of approximately $70822000 In addition the preferred stock warrant liability with

carrying value of approximately $9199000 was reclassified to additional paid in capital upon conversion of these preferred stock

warrants into warrants to purchase the aforementioned common stock Our outstanding senior secured convertible notes and the

associated accrued interest were converted into approximately 1260000 shares of our common stock at the rate of $6.00 per

share increasing common stock by approximately $13000 and additional paid in capital by approximately $7504000

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include accounts of AuthenTec Inc and our wholly owned subsidiaries AuthenTec

K.K and AuthenTec Shanghai Co Ltd All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Beginning with 2006 we adopted fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to December 31 In prior years we operated on

fiscal year ending on December 31 The change was made to simplify reporting and to provide for improved comparability

between reporting periods Fiscal year 2008 began December 29 2007 and ended January 2009 Fiscal
year

2008 contained

53 weeks

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period Actual

results may differ from those estimates

Comprehensive Income Loss

Comprehensive income loss is defined as change in equity resulting from non-owner sources Accumulated other

comprehensive loss includes unrealized losses on investment securities classified as available-for-sale of $0.1 million and zero at

January 2008 and December 28 2007 respectively During the years ended January 2009 and December 28 2007 $0.3

million and zero of unrealized losses on available-for-sale investment securities were transferred into earnings as result of other

than-temporary impairment charge

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from product sales to customers when products are shipped the title and risk of loss has passed to

the customer the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured Our sales to certain distributors are

made under agreements allowing for limited returns or credits under certain circumstances and we
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

defer recognition of revenue on sales to these distributors until the products are resold by the distributor to the end-user We assess

the ability to collect from our customers based on number of factors including credit worthiness and any past transaction history

of the customer If the customer is not deemed credit worthy we defer all revenue from the arrangement until payment is received

and other revenue recognition criteria have been met During the second quarter of 2007 we changed our contract terms with

few major distributors The new terms do not allow for right of return or price protection which terms under our old agreements
have previously caused sales to these distributors to be deferred until resold to end customers We therefore now recognize

revenue to these distributors upon shipment At the time of the contract changes this created an increase to revenue and decrease

in deferred revenue of approximately $566000 since such term changes were retroactive to prior shipments also

Product Warranty

We offer one-year product replacement warranty We accrue for estimated returns of defective products based on

historical activity for the prior twelve months at the time revenue is recognized as well as any specific known product issues The

determination of these accruals requires us to make estimates of the frequency and extent of warranty activity and estimated future

costs to replace the products under warranty If the actual warranty activity and/or repair and replacement costs differ significantly

from these estimates adjustments to recognize additional cost of revenue may be required in future periods The following table

presents reconciliation of our product warranty liability which is included in other accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance

sheets

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28
2009 2007

In thousands

Balance beginning of year 135 181

Accruals for sales in the period 205 14

Costs incurred 125 60
Balanceend of year 215 135

Cash Cash Equivalents and Investments

Our investments are tailored to appropriately balance the trade-off between the preservation of capital and return We
consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash

equivalents Our other investments that include auction rate securities corporate and euro bonds medium and short term notes

and certificates of deposits are classified as investments and are accounted for under the provisions of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 115 Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities We have classified

our auction rate securities as available-for-sale AFS and reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses if any excluded

from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income loss separate component of stockholders equity For any losses

that are deemed other than temporary in nature they are reported in our Consolidate Statement of Operations At December 28
2007 we classified our corporate and euro bonds medium and short term notes and certificates of deposit as held-to-maturity

HTM investments and reported them at amortized cost Due to lack of liquidity in the auction rate securities market and

instability in various financial markets experienced in the beginning of 2008 we decided to reevaluate our investment

strategies Although we had positive intent and ability to hold our HTM investments at the time of their purchase during the

quarter ended March 28 2008 we redeemed some of our HTM investments prior to their maturity in order to balance our

investment portfolio Even though we consider the environment at the time of the decision to sell these securities to be

unprecedented we have reclassified all of our remaining HIM investments to AFS and reported unrealized gains losses in other

comprehensive income loss at January 2009

The following table reports redemptions of investments classified as HTM at December 28 2007 and before

reclassification to AFS during the year ended January 2009

Net Carrying Realized

Value Gain/Loss

In thousands

Corporate bonds 1000 11

Notes 3313

Total 4313
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The table above does not include $5.2 million in redemptions of certificates of deposit upon their maturity during the year

ended January 2009

The following table represents transfers of investments from HTM to AFS during the year ended January 2009

Net Carrying Unrealized

Value Gain

In thousands

Certificates of deposits 5585 32

Corporate bonds 17499 66

Eurobonds 2094 14

Notes 9289 18

Total 34467 130

The following table reports investment holdings at period end

As of
2008

Value Unrealized Gain/Loss Maturity Range

January December 28 January December 28
2009 2007 2009 2007

In thousands In years

Auction rate securities AFS 5334 23945 6yrs

Certificates of deposits AFS 1532 10931 0.2 yrs

Corporate bonds AFS 7548 11609 0.1 0.3 yrs

Euro bonds AFS 995 1025 41 0.4 yrs

Notes AFS 8057 3129 95
____________

0.1 0.5 yrs

Total 23466 50639 129

As of January 2009 and December 28 2007 $5.3 millionand $23.9 million respectively of our $23.5 million and $50.6

million in short-term and long-term investments respectively were comprised of municipal notes preferred stock and student

loan backed investments with an auction reset feature auction rate securities The municipal notes are issued by various state

and local municipal entities for the purpose of public projects and other activities The preferred stock is issued by various closed-

end mutual funds that invest primarily in common stock and fixed income securities The student loan backed auction rate security

is state issued higher education loan which is substantially insured by the U.S government

Due to auction rate securities markets being disrupted in mid-February 2008 we experienced auction failures for the first

time An auction failure means that the parties wishing to sell their securities could not be matched with an adequate volume of

buyers In the event that there is failed auction the indenture governing the security requires the issuer to pay interest at

contractually defmed rate that is generally above market rates for other types of similar short-term instruments and we continue to

receive contractual payments The securities for which auctions have failed will continue to accrue interest at the contractual rate

and be auctioned every seven 28 or 35 days until the auction succeeds the issuer calls the securities or they mature

All of our auction rate securities held at January 2009 had experienced failed auctions As result our ability to liquidate

and fully recover the carrying value of our remaining auction rate securities in the near term may be limited or not exist

During the quarter ending October 2008 the financial market for debt securities started to see decreasing trading activity

as investors became concerned about liquidity in fmancial institutions As result several of our Bonds and Notes experienced

significant decline in trading volume and therefore the market for these debt securities was considered inactive as of October

2008 During the quarter ended January 2009 however these debt securities resumed more ordinary trading and we were able

to obtain observable inputs for the valuation of these holdings

We estimated the fair value of our short-term and long-term investments based our own analysis Our estimates were based

on assumptions we believe market participants would use in pricing similar assets in current transaction which could change

significantly over time based on market conditions Please refer to Note Fair Value Measurements for more information
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Inventoiy

Inventory consisting principally of outsourced semiconductor chips and finished goods is valued at the lower of cost or

market Cost is determined by standard costs which approximate the first-in first-out method We evaluate inventory for excess

and obsolescence and write down units that are unlikely to be sold based upon twelve months demand forecast This evaluation

takes into account various matters which might include expected demand product obsolescence and other factors If actual future

demand for our products is less than currently forecasted additional inventory adjustments may be required Once reserve is

established it is maintained until the product to which it relates is sold or scrapped If unit that has been written down or off is

subsequently sold the cost associated with the revenue from this unit is reduced to the extent of the write down resulting in an

increase in gross profit

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers and Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist of cash cash equivalents

investments and accounts receivable The majority of cash and cash equivalents are deposited with two credit worthy financial

institutions and the federal government We have not experienced any losses on deposits of cash and cash equivalents We believe

that the financial institutions are reputable and accordingly minimal credit risk exists However at times we have cash balances

in these banks in excess of FDIC insurance limits

We currently sell our products to limited number of customers and maintain reserves for potential credit losses related to

accounts receivable arising from sales of our products We also perform credit evaluations of our customers and provide credit to

certain customers in the normal course of business

The following table illustrates the concentration of customer accounts receivable as percent of total accounts receivable

As of

January December 28
2009 2007

Inventec Corporation 23% 37%

Lenovo Ltd 15

Compal Electronics Inc 10 13

Fujitsu Ltd 21

Richpower Electronic Devices Co 15

Less than 10%

change in or loss of one or more of our customers could adversely effect results of operations The following table

illustrates the concentration of customer revenue as percent of total revenue

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

Inventec Corporation 18% 19% 14%

Richpower Electronic Devices Co 15 24

Compal Electronics Inc 14 15 19

Fujitsu Ltd 13 23 32

Edom Technology Co Ltd 11

Less than 10%

In September 2008 we announced the loss of 2009 design-in opportunity at one of our significant PC customers We do

not anticipate revenue impact associated with this lost opportunity until late fiscal year 2009 or early fiscal year 2010

For the years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 sales to international customers

accounted for 97% 96% and 92% of revenue respectively

We depend upon limited number of subcontractors for our production requirements The failure of any of our

subcontractors to fulfill our production requirements on timely basis would adversely impact future results Although there are

other subcontractors that are capable of providing similar services an unexpected change in our subcontractors could cause delays

in our ability to meet our customers demands resulting in loss of revenue
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation The cost of additions and improvements are

capitalized while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred Depreciation is provided on the straight-line

method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets three to eight years Depreciation of

property plant and equipment amounted to approximately $1083000 $826000 and $468000 for the years ended January

2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 respectively

Intangible Assets

During the year ended January 2009 we purchased certain patents subject to amortization for $120000 with estimated

useful lives ranging from 8.8 years to 18.5 years We allocated the total purchase price individually to each patent family based on

the weighted average remaining useful life and began amortizing them using straight-line amortization method over their

remaining useful lives These amortizable intangible assets are classified under other long-term assets on our Consolidated

Balance Sheet

The change in the carrying amount of intangible assets is as follows

As olJanuary 22009

Gross

Carrying Accumulated Net Book

Value Amortization Value

In thousands

Patents subject to amortization 8-19 years 120 118

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets SFAS No 142 requires

that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for

impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 144 Accountingfor the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets SFAS No 144 whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount

may not be recoverable

Amortization expense for intangible assets amounted to approximately $2000 for the year
ended January 2009 and zero

for the years
ended December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 The estimated aggregate

amortization expense for all amortizable

intangibles for each of the succeeding years ending December 27 2013 is as follows

Fiscal Year Amount

2009 8400

2010 8400

2011 8400

2012 8400

2013 8.400

42000

Defrrred Rent

One of our leases contains predetermined fixed increases in the base rental rate over the term of the lease For this lease we

recognize the related rental expense on straight-line basis over the lease term Additionally the lessor under this lease agreement

provided an incentive to us in the form of funding for certain leasehold improvements made during the fiscal year ended

January 2009 We have recorded this lease incentive as deferred rent along with the difference between amounts charged to

expenses and currently payable under the lease The lease incentive is amortized as reduction to lease expense over the lease

term

Research and Development

Development costs incurred in the research and development of products are expensed as incurred

Advertising Expense

We expense advertising costs as incurred Advertising expense was approximately $444000 $430000 and $166000 for

the years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 respectively
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Long-Lived Assets

SFAS No 144 ccounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets requires us to review long-lived assets for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net

undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset If such assets are considered to be impaired the impairment to be

recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the discounted cash flows No
impairment losses were recognized by us for the years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006

Litigation Related Expenses

We accrue all litigation related legal expenses if these costs are probable and estimable regardless of whether liability can
be estimated for the loss contingency itself In December 2006 we accrued the estimated future costs of the legal fees of

$2781000 associated with defending the patent infringement lawsuit filed against us in March 2006 Note

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 we adopted SFAS No 123 revised 2004 Share-B ased Payment SFAS No 123R which

requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and

directors including employee stock options based on estimated fair values recognized over the requisite service period We used
the prospective transition method under which SFAS No 123R is applied to new awards and to awards modified repurchased
or cancelled after January 2006

We estimated the fair value of options granted after January 2006 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing valuation
model This valuation model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation These

variables and assumptions include the fair value of our common stock weighted average period of time that the options granted
are expected to be outstanding the estimated volatility of comparable companies the risk free interest rate and the estimated rate

of forfeitures of unvested stock options

For the period of January 2006 through June 29 2007 we used the simplified calculation of expected life described in

the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin 107 and we estimated our stocks volatility based on an

average of historical volatilities of the common stock of several entities with characteristics similar to us Given our current public

company status for stock options granted after June 29 2007 we refined our pool of peer companies that reflect characteristics

similar to us taking into account industry trends market capitalization annual revenue option life and option vesting terms

During the quarter ended October 2008 we have introduced our common stock volatility in addition to the pooi of peer
companies in order to move towards more reliance on our volatility over time The risk-free rate is based on U.S Treasury
securities We estimated expected forfeitures based on our historical experience Furthermore if different assumptions are used in

future periods stock-based compensation expense could be materially impacted in the future

Net Loss per Share

We calculate net income loss per share in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS
No 128 Earnings per Share Under SFAS No 128 basic net income loss per common share is calculated by dividing net

income loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period Diluted net income

loss per common share reflects the effects of potentially dilutive securities which consist of convertible preferred stock senior

convertible notes common stock options and warrants
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income loss per common share

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

In thousands except per share data

Numerator

Net income loss 45 10897 9782

Denominator

Denominator for basic income loss per shareweighted average

common shares outstanding 28339 13681 644

Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options and restricted stock units 1965

Warrants to purchase common stock

Denominator for diluted income loss per shareweighted average

common shares and potential common shares outstanding 30308 13681 644

Basic net income loss per share 0.00 0.80 15.18

Diluted net income loss per share 0.00 0.80 15.18

Basic and diluted net income loss per common share was the same for the years ended December 28 2007 and December 29

2006 as the impact of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding was anti-dilutive The following table presents the potentially

dilutive securities outstanding that were excluded from the computation of diluted net income loss per common share for the

periods presented because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect in thousands

As of

January December 28 December 29

2009 2007 2006

Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock 17984

Options to purchase common stock non vested restricted stock awards 2237 3779 3153

Warrants to purchase common or preferred stock 25 79 2127

2262 3858 23264

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the provisions SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes In applying

SFAS No 109 we are required to estimate our current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences resulting from

differing treatments of items for tax and accounting purposes These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities

Significant management judgment is required to assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future

taxable income As of January 2009 our total deferred tax assets were principally comprised of net operating loss carry

forwards As of January 2009 based on the available objective evidence we believe it is more likely than not that our deferred

tax assets will not be realizable in the foreseeable future We based this belief primarily on the fact that we have incurred

cumulative pre-tax losses in all years
since inception Accordingly we provided full valuation allowance against our net

deferred tax assets as of January 2009 Should sufficient positive objectively verifiable evidence of the realization of our net

deferred tax assets exist at future date we would reverse any remaining valuation allowance to the extent supported by estimates

of future taxable income at that time

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006 the FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements The purpose
of SFAS No 157 is to

increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements by defining fair value establishing framework for measuring

fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expanding disclosures about fair value measurements SFAS No 157

emphasizes that fair value is market-based measurement not an entity-specific measurement It clarifies the extent to which fair

value is used to measure recognized assets and liabilities the inputs used to develop measurements and the effect of certain

measurements on earnings for the period SFAS No 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
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November 15 2007 and is applied on prospective basis In February 2008 the FASB released FASB Staff Position FSP
157-2 which delayed the effective date of SFAS No 157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that

are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on recurring basis SFAS No 157 was first effective for us

on December 29 2007 See Note We are currently evaluating the potential impact of the deferred part of SFAS No 157

related to non-financial assets and liabilities on our results of operations and financial condition

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 revised 2007 Business Combinations to increase relevance

representational faithfulness and comparability of the information that reporting entity provides in its financial reports about

business combination and its effects SFAS No 141 replaces SFAS No 141 Business Combinations but retains the

fundamental requirements of SFAS No 141 that the acquisition method of accounting be used and an acquirer be identified for all

business combinations SFAS 141 expands the definition of business and of business combination and establishes how the

acquirer is to recognize and measure in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities assumed and

any non controlling interest in the acquiree recognize and measure the goodwill acquired in the business combination or

gain from bargain purchase and determine what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to

evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination This Statement applies prospectively to business

combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after

December 15 2008 Early adoption is prohibited SFAS No 141R will impact us if we elect to enter into business combination

subsequent to January 2009

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

including an amendment of FASB Statement No 115 This statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial

instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value This statement also

establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different

measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities This statement does not affect any existing accounting literature

that requires certain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value This statement does not establish requirements for recognizing

and measuring dividend income interest income or interest expense We adopted FAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No 115 FAS No 159 on

December 29 2007 the first day of our 2008 fiscal year This standard permits entities to choose to measure many financial

instruments and certain other items at fair value While FAS No 159 became effective for our 2008 fiscal year we did not elect

the fair value measurement option for any of our financial assets or liabilities

In April 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position FSP 142-3 Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets FSP

142-3 amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful

life of recognized intangible asset under SFAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets FSP 142-3 also requires

additional disclosures on information that can be used to assess the extent to which future cash flows associated with intangible

assets are affected by an entitys intent or ability to renew or extend such arrangements and on associated accounting policies FSP

142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 FSP

142-3 may impact us in the future if we acquire intellectual property or other intangible assets

In May 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 162 The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles This statement

identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of

financial statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with GAAP SFAS No 162 directs the GAAP
hierarchy to the entity not the independent auditors as the entity is responsible for selecting accounting principles for financial

statements that are presented in conformity with GAAP SFAS No 162 is effective 60 days following the SEC approval of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to remove the GAAP hierarchy from the auditing standards SFAS
162 became effective for us in the fourth quarter of 2008 and is not expected to have material impact on our financial

statements

In October 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position FSP 157-3 Determining the Fair Value of Financial Asset When the

Market for That Asset is Not Active This FSP clarifies the application of FASB Statement No 157 Fair Value Measurements in

market that is not active and provides an example to illustrate key considerations in determining the fair value of financial

asset when the market for that financial asset is not active This FSP applies to financial assets within the scope of accounting

pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements in accordance with Statement 157 This FSP shall be effective

upon issuance including prior periods for which financial statements have not been issued Revisions resulting from change in

the valuation technique or its application shall be accounted for as change in accounting estimate FASB Statement No 154

Accounting Changes and Error Corrections paragraph 19 The disclosure provisions of Statement 154 for change in

accounting estimate are not required for revisions resulting from change in valuation technique or its application We used this

guidance for fair value measurement of our financial assets as of January 2009
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Inventory

As of

January December 28

2009 2007

In thousands

Work-in-process
4343 3578

Fmished goods 2934 2652

Valuation allowance 1507 1110

5770 5120

Property Plant and Equipment

As of

Useful Life January December 28

Years 2009 2007

In thousands

Production and lab equipment 4203 3199

Computer equipment
1163 1020

Office furniture and fixtures 526 452

Computer software
787 659

Leasehold improvements
1179 334

Sub-total 7858 5664

Less Accumulated depreciation 4142 3059

Property and equipment net 3716 2605

Depreciation expense
1083 826

Fair Value Measurements

Effective December 29 2007 we adopted SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements the Standard The Standard

defines fair value provides consistent framework for measuring fair value under accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States and expands fair value financial statement disclosure requirements SFAS No 157 does not require any new fair

value measurements It only applies to accounting pronouncements
that already require or permit fair value measures except for

standards that relate to share-based payments SFAS No 123R Share Based Payment

Valuation techniques considered under SFAS No 157 techniques are based on observable and unobservable inputs The

Standard classifies these inputs into the following hierarchy

Level inputs are observable inputs and use quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the

reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date and are deemed to be most reliable measure of fair value

Level inputs are observable inputs and reflect assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity Level inputs includes

quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in

markets that are not active observable inputs such as interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals

volatilities prepayment speeds credits risks default rates and market-corroborated inputs

Level inputs are unobservable inputs and reflect the reporting entitys own assumptions about the assumptions market

participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available under the circumstances

At January 2009 we had $61.3 million in cash equivalents short-term and long-term investments that were subject to fair

value measurements in accordance to SFAS No 157
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The fair values of our investments based on the level of inputs are summarized below

Fair Value as

of January Gains

Description
2009 Level Level Level losses

In Thousands

Treasury and U.S government agency funds 37875 37875

Corporate bonds 7548 7548

Medium and short term notes 8057 8057 95
Eurobonds 995 995 41
Certificates of deposit 1532 1532

Auction rate securitiesmunicipal notes 1300 1300

Auction rate securitiespreferred stock 2900
_________

2900
_________

Subtotal 60207 37875 22332 129
Auction rate securitiesstudent loans 1134 1134 266L

Total 61341 37875 22332 1134 395

In measuring fair value where Level inputs were available we used single valuation technique which valued our

securities based on quoted market prices At January 2009 our Treasury and U.S government agency funds were measured

using Level inputs and the fair value was based on daily observable trades

In measuring fair value where Level inputs were available we used valuations performed by an independent pricing

vendor utilized by our investment broker for our bonds notes and CDs In measuring fair value of our municipal notes and

preferred stock auction rate securities ARS we used valuations performed by the same pricing vendor as well as the most
recent history of successful auctions where similar securities were sold in an active market and discounted cash flow model The

discounted cash flow model took into consideration the interest being earned on these securities versus interest earned on similar

securities such as Corporate and Municipal bonds Most of the assumptions used are observable in the market place and can be

derived from or are supported by observable data at which transactions were are executed in the market place

In measuring fair value where Level inputs were available we used single valuation technique which valued our

securities based on multiple discounted cash flow scenarios with various liquidation time horizons We believe that this pricing

model reflects the assumptions marketplace participant would use in valuing similar assets which could change significantly

over time based on market conditions Factors that may impact our valuation include changes to credit ratings of the securities as

well as to the underlying assets supporting those securities rates of default of the underlying assets underlying collateral value

discount rates credit risk and ongoing strength and quality of market credit and liquidity

At January 2009 our student loan backed auction rate securities were measured using unobservable inputs with fair

value of $1.1 million which represented approximately one percent 1% of total assets The auction rate security was transferred

to Level during the three months ended June 27 2008 because the pricing vendor utilized by our investment broker no longer
valued this investment and therefore some of the inputs to measure fair value are no longer observable Some of our debt

securities were transferred to Level during the three months ended October 2008 due to the fact that there are currently no

active markets for such securities and therefore we could no longer rely on the valuation of the pricing vendor utilized by our

investment broker since the observable inputs are not obtainable The pricing provided by our investment broker on these

inactively trading debt securities were based on very low volume of trades that were likely forced liquidations or distressed sales

and were not part of orderly transactions These investments resumed active trading during the three months ended January
2009 and were therefore transferred back to Level
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The table below provides reconciliation of all assets measured at fair value on recurring basis which use Level or

significant unobservable inputs for the twelve months ended January 2009

Auction Rate Corp and Short-Term

Description

Total Securities Euro Bonds Notes

In Thousands

Beginning balance December 29 2007

Purchases issuances and settlements

Transfers in/out of level

Realized/unrealized gain/loss

Included in earnings

Included in other comprehensive loss

Ending balance March 28 2008

Purchases issuances and settlements

Transfers in/out of level 1400 1400

Realized/unrealized gain/loss

Included in earnings

Included in other comprehensive loss 233 233
_________

Ending balance June 27 2008 $1167 1167

Purchases issuances and settlements

Transfers in/out of level 4576 3046 1530

Realized/unrealized gain/loss

Included in earnings

Included in other comprehensive loss 188 74 120

Ending balance October 2008 5555 1173 2972 1410

Purchases issuances and settlements

Transfers in/out of level 4382 2972 1410

Realized/unrealized gain/loss

Included in earnings 266 266

Included in other comprehensive loss 227 227

Ending balance January 2009 1134 1134

As of January 2009 we classified $5.3 million of investments in ARS as long-term due to the fact that they had

experienced failed auctions The remaining securities with the value of $18.1 million have maturity date of twelve months or

less and therefore are classified as short-term investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheet

During the three months ended January 2009 we concluded that an impairment of approximately $266000 on our

student loan backed auction rate security is other-than-temporary as we do not think that it is probable that this investment will be

liquidated in the foreseeable future and the decline in market value is therefore not temporary Due to the highly illiquid nature of

the underlying student loan securities it is unclear as to whether we will have the ability to hold this security until it is liquidated

by the issuer or until the market for this security recovers

We have recorded unrealized losses of approximately $129000 on our other securities which we believe to be temporary in

nature due to the fact that these securities first experienced impairment approximately six months ago or less and they all mature

within six months of the balance sheet date These investments continue to carry strong credit ratings and we have the intent and

ability to hold these securities until the anticipated recovery in market value occurs given our current liquidity and capital

structure We will continue to monitor these securities and may be required to record an impairment charge if the decline in fair

value is determined to be other- than- temporary
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Contractual Commitments

Operating leases and license fres

We lease our office space equipment and certain design software under non-cancelable operating lease agreements Future

minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are approximately $877000 $769000 $869000 $897000

$928000 and $960000 for fiscal years 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 and 2014 respectively During the fiscal year ended

December 28 2007 we prepaid for licenses to be used over the next three years ending December 31 2010 This cost will be

amortized over the same period of time

Rental expense under the operating leases was approximately $811000 $701000 and $473000 for the years ended

January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 respectively License expense for the design software was

approximately $449000 $358000 and S35 8000 for the years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29

2006 respectively

Non-Cancelable Purchase Commitments

We enter into various inventory related purchase commitments with the third-party contract manufacturers and suppliers

We had approximately $557000 of noncancelable purchase commitments with our contract manufacturers as of January 2009

We expect to sell all products which we have committed to purchase

License Agreements

We have entered into software design license and maintenance agreement with supplier This agreement provided for

quarterly payments of approximately $89400 which were expensed as paid Expense under this agreement for the years ended

January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 was approximately $449000 $358000 and $358000 respectively

The last of the quarterly payments were made during the fiscal year ended January 2009 Also during the fiscal year ended

December 28 2007 we prepaid for licenses to be used over the next three years ending December 31 2010 This cost will be

amortized over the same period of time

During 2002 we entered into license agreement under which we obtained nonexclusive right to use certain software

technology through the term of the licensors copyrights on such technology In exchange we are required to pay fee no lower

than $.25 per copy Under this agreement we recorded license fee expense of approximately $0 $65000 and $202000 for the

years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 respectively

In 2005 we entered into license agreement for the use and modification of certain software technology for term of

years in exchange for non-recurring development fee of $175000 and royalty payments of $.05 12 per product sold with

this technology based on the volume of products sold We expensed the non-recurring development fee of $175000 in 2005 and

we recognized additional royalty related expense of $331000 in 2008

In 2007 we entered into license agreement for the use of certain silicon technology for term of five years and

renewable annually thereafter in exchange for non-recurring development fee of $70000 and royalty payments of 2.5% 3% of

the cost of wafers manufactured with this technology We expensed the non-recurring development fee of $70000 in 2007 and we

recognized additional royalty related expense of $113000 in 2008

During 2007 we entered into license agreement under which we obtained nonexclusive right to use certain software

technology through the term of the licensors copyrights on such technology In exchange we are required to pay
fee no lower

than $15 per copy Under this agreement we recorded license fee expense of approximately $232000 for the year ended

January 2009

Legal Proceedings

Our industry is marked by significant number of patents copyrights trade secrets and trademarks and by frequent

litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violation of intellectual property rights

On March 12 2008 we filed patent infringement lawsuit against Atrua Technologies Inc in the United States District

Court Northern District of California alleging that Atruas fmgerprint sensors infringe three of our patents Two of the patents

relate to fingerprint sensor packaging and the third relates to fingerprint sensor circuitry On April 25 2008 we amended the

complaint to add allegations that Atruas fmgerprint sensors infringe another two of our patents which relate to fingerprint

circuitry We seek monetary damages for infringement by Atruas fingerprint sensor products and an injunction against Atruas

future infringement of the patents Atrua answered the complaint on May 14 2008 and filed counterclaims against us The

counterclaims allege infringement of an Atrua patent related to biometric imaging and various affirmative defenses Both

companies are asserting allegations related to unfair business practices We believe that we have meritorious defenses to all of

Atruas claims and we intend to defend our interests vigorously case management order was issued by the Court on July 11

2008 and set an initial claim construction hearing on two of our
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five patents in the 2nd Quarter of 2009 Following the initial claim construction by the Court further case management
conference will be conducted at which time the Court will decide how the case will proceed Discovery is ongoing It is difficult

to determine under the Courts Order when trial may occur Accordingly it is difficult to estimate with any degree of probability

the timing of future costs associated with this lawsuit

On October 2008 complaint for violation of U.S federal securities laws was filed by Brian Hoffman against

AuthenTec our CEO Scott Moody and CFO Gary Larsen in the United States District Court Middle District of Florida We
strongly refute the unsubstantiated allegations in the complaint and filed Motion to Dismiss or Strike the Complaint on

December 2008 lead plaintiff Robert Caruso and lead counsel were appointed by the Court in December 2008 and were

provided short period to either amend the originally filed complaint or respond to our motion to dismiss On January 2009 an

Amended Complaint was filed on behalf of class of persons who purchased our common stock between October 29 2007 and

September 2008 alleging that the defendants made false or misleading statements concerning our business operations and

prospects and that the putative class suffered losses as result Motion to Dismiss or Strike the Amended Complaint with

Prejudice was filed on February 2009 We believe that we have meritorious defenses to all of the securities claims and we
intend to defend our interests vigorously

In addition to these legal proceedings from time to time we may be involved in various legal proceedings arising from the

normal course of business activities Depending on the amount and timing an unfavorable resolution of matter could materially

affect our future results of operations cash flows or financial position in particular period

Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

in thousands

Current tax provision

Federal 281 1182
State 16 224
Foreign 22 55

____________

22 352 1406
Deferred tax provision

Federal 430 220 1211
State 24 12 230
Foreign 68

386 232 1441
364 120 2847

Valuation allowance 364 120 2847

Total tax provision

The reconciliation of income taxes at the U.S federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes is as follows

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

in thousands

Income taxes at federal statutory rate 3704 3326
State income taxes net of federal benefit 132 391
Non-deductible permanent items 281 3709 870

Foreign rate differential 78

Federal valuation allowances net of reversals 454 65 2847

Foreign valuation allowances net of reversals 90 55

Total
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The components of the net deferred tax asset and the tax effects of the primary differences giving rise to our deferred tax

asset are as follows

As of

January December 28
2009 2007

in thousands

Deferred tax assets

Fixed assets 128 314

Allowance for bad debt 14

Inventory reserve 531 390

Deferred revenue 44 28

Accrued litigation 469

Accrued vacation and bonus 381 620

Unrealized loss on investment 94

Other accrued liabilities 1002 226

Chinese capitalized expenses 124

Foreign NOL 188 164

Federal and state NOLs 17220 18001

Total 19726 20220
Valuation allowance 19726 20220
Net deferred tax assets

At January 2009 we have federal net operating loss
carry forwards of approximately $48878000 available to reduce

future taxable income which will begin to expire in the year 2018

At January 2009 we have foreign net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $595000 available to reduce future

taxable income which will begin to expire in the year 2012

The entire balance of the deferred tax assets has been offset by valuation allowance or uncertain tax provision since

realization of any future benefit from deductible temporary differences and utilization of net operating loss carry forwards cannot

be sufficiently assured at January 2009

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code certain substantial changes in our ownership may result in limitation on

the amount of net operating loss
carry forwards which can be used in future years

Adoption of FIN 48

In June 2006 the FASB issued Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes FIN 48 which clarifies

the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in companys financial statements in accordance with FASB
Statement No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes This interpretation prescribes recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax position taken or expected to be taken in tax return

FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition of tax benefits classification on the balance sheet interest and penalties

accounting in interim periods disclosure and transition We adopted FIN 48 effective December 30 2006

In conjunction with the adoption of FIN 48 we analyzed filing positions in all of the federal state and foreign jurisdictions

where we are required to file income tax returns as well as all open tax years in these jurisdictions We have identified our federal

tax return and state tax return in Florida as major tax jurisdictions as defmed The periods subject to examination for our federal

and Florida returns are the 2005 through 2008 tax years We are not currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service or the

Florida Department of Revenue As result of the implementation of FiN 48 we recognized approximately $1424000 decrease
in assets for unrecognized tax benefits associated with state net operating losses The application of FIN 48 would have resulted in

decrease in retained earnings of approximately $1424000 except that the decrease was fully offset by the application of

valuation allowance There have been no significant changes to these amounts during the year ended January 2009
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows
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in thousands

Balance at December 28 2007 1424

Increase/decrease based on tax positions related to the current year

Increase/decrease for tax positions of prior years

Decrease related to settlements

Decrease related to the lapse of the statute of limitations

Balance at January 2009 1424

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense which were zero as of and for

the years ended January 2009 and December 28 2007

Redeemable Preferred Stock

Prior to our public offering in July 2007 our amended certificate of incorporation authorized 100000000 shares of

common stock and 80444003 shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock Redeemable convertible preferred stock at

December 29 2006 consisted of the following

Shares
Proceeds Net

Issued and Liquidation of Issuance

Series Authorized Outstanding Preference Costs

In thousands

13510000 13500000 13461

9324702 9005812 20263 20227

38109301 29928769 30000 13986

15000000 15000000 15000 14935

Junior preferred 4500000 4500000 450

80444003 71934581 65263 63059

Preferred Stock Series Series

Through 1999 we issued 13500000 shares of Series for gross proceeds of $13000000 and the extinguishment of

$500000 note payable

The Series holders had the following preferences when and as declared dividends noncumulative of $.08 per share

each four shares of Series was convertible into one share of common stock subject to certain anti-dilution provisions and

automatically converted into shares of common stock upon qualified public offering of our common stock with an offering

price per share of at least $6.48 with aggregate proceeds of at least $30 million

Preferred Stock Series Series

On March 14 2001 we issued 9005812 shares of Series for cash proceeds of approximately $15100000 plus the

conversion of convertible promissory notes of $4390806 including accrued interest of $131506 and the conversion of the

convertible stock for value of $763568 including accrued dividends

The Series holders had the following preferences when and as declared dividends noncumulative of 18 per share

each four shares of Series was convertible into one share of common stock subject to certain anti-dilution provisions and

automatically converted into shares of common stock upon qualified public offering of our common stock with an offering

price per share of at least $6.48 with aggregate proceeds of at least $30 million

Preferred Stock Series Series

During 2003 we issued 27933518 shares of Series convertible preferred stock Series for cash proceeds of

approximately $14000000 plus the conversion of certain convertible promissory notes of $1000000 into 1995251 shares of

Series Preferred Stock for an aggregate of 29928769 shares of Series

The Series holders had the following preferences dividends at the rate of $.04 per share non-cumulative when and

as declared each four shares of Series was convertible into one share of common stock subject to certain anti-dilution

provisions the Series was automatically converted into shares of common stock upon qualified public offering of our

common stock with an offering price per share of at least $6.48 with aggregate proceeds of at least
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$30 million and the Series had liquidation preference of $1 .0234 per share and including any dividends payable thereon

up to maximum aggregate amount of $30 million

Preferred Stock Series Series

During 2004 we issued 15000000 shares of Series convertible preferred stock Series for cash proceeds of

approximately $15000000

The Series holders had the following preferences dividends at the rate of $.08 per share non-cumulative when and

as declared each four shares of Series was convertible into one share of common stock subject to certain anti-dilution

provisions the Series was automatically converted into shares of common stock upon qualified public offering of our

common stock with an offering price per share of at least $6.48 with aggregate proceeds of at least $30 million and the

Series had liquidation preference of $1.00 per share and including any dividends payable thereon up to maximum aggregate

of $15 million

Junior Convertible Preferred Stock Junior Preferred

Through October 1998 we issued 4500000 shares of Junior Preferred for the purchase of technology and fixtures valued

at S450000 Each four shares of Junior Preferred was convertible into one share of common stock and automatically converted

into shares of common stock and upon qualified public offering price per share of at least $6.48 with aggregate proceeds at least

$30 million

Upon our liquidation and after the Series and Series have received their liquidation preference all funds were to be

distributed on pari passu basis to Common Series Series and Series A/B/Junior Preferred Pool The funds in the

Series AJB/Junior Preferred Pool were to be distributed first to the Series and Series on pan passu basis with each other

before any amounts were distributed to the Junior Preferred and until such time as the Series and Series had received

$1.00 per share and $2.25 per share respectively The funds then were to be distributed to the Junior Preferred until such time as

the Junior Preferred had received $1.00 per share Thereafter all proceeds in the Series A/B/Junior Preferred Pool were to be

distributed on pari passu basis to the Series Series and Junior Preferred

The Series and Preferred Stock was considered mandatorily redeemable since the following were all deemed to

be liquidation dissolution or winding up of our company any transaction or series of related transactions to which we are

party including without limitation any reorganization merger or consolidation that results in the transfer of 50% or more of our

outstanding voting power sale lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets or the transfer of more

than 50% of our voting power

In April 2007 we issued additional 3249062 shares of Preferred Stock Series upon exercise of preferred stock warrants

held by investors Total cash paid to us upon exercise of the warrants was $320000

Upon the closing of our initial public offering in July 2007 the total of 75183643 shares of outstanding preferred stock

were converted into 18795911 shares of our common stock taking into effect one for four reverse stock split that was

completed on June 26 2007

As of December 28 2007 no shares of preferred stock were designated or outstanding Our Board of Directors is

authorized without action by the stockholders to designate and issue up to 10000000 shares of preferred stock in one or more

series

Warrants

During the year ended January 2009 warrants to purchase approximately 54000 shares of common stock were exercised

and approximately 44000 shares of common stock were issued after the net exercise through cashless transaction

As of January 2009 approximately 25000 warrants to purchase shares of our common stock were outstanding and

exercisable These warrants were issued on September 25 2000 and January 2001 with an exercise price of $9.00 and will

expire on September 25 2010

Under FSPI 50-5 we were required to classify warrants to purchase shares of our mandatorily redeemable convertible

preferred stock as liabilities and revalue them to fair value at the end of each reporting period We recognized warrant expense for

approximately $9637000 and $2195000 for years ended December 28 2007 and December 29 2006

On July 2007 the fair value ascribed to the warrants to purchase mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock

using the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market as of the closing of our initial public offering was

approximately $9199000 On that date the carrying value of such warrants was reclassified to additional paid in capital as the

underlying preferred stock securities were converted into common stock on that date and the warrants to purchase shares of

Page 62 of 70



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted to warrants to purchase an equivalent number of shares of common stock

Warrants to purchase approximately 2049000 shares were exercised and approximately 1789000 shares were issued after the

net exercise during the fiscal year ended December 28 2007 Exercise of approximately 1595000 shares and issuance of

approximately 1335000 shares from the aforementioned warrants was cashless transaction

Stock Options

In 1998 we adopted stock option plan which we later amended and restated into our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan which

authorized our Board of Directors to grant incentive stock options ISOs and non-qualified stock options NQSOs stock

appreciation rights stock and phantom stock awards performance awards and other stock-based awards to employees directors

officers and consultants As of Janualy 2009 the total number of shares authorized under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan by the

Board of Directors was approximately 4720000 and the total number of shares available to grant was approximately 6000

In June 2007 our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan was approved by our Board of Directors and stockholders This plan allows

for the grant of incentive stock options ISOs and non-qualified stock options NQSOs stock appreciation rights stock and

phantom stock awards performance awards and other stock-based awards to employees officers directors and other individuals

providing bona fide services to us or any of our affiliates As of January 2009 the total number of shares authorized under our

2007 Stock Incentive Plan by the Board of Directors was approximately 3524000 and the total number of shares available to

grant was approximately 2546000

NQSOs may be granted to employees officers directors and consultants ISOs may be granted only to employees Under

our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan the Plans ISOs are granted at price that is not less than

100% of the fair market value as is determined at the market close on the date of grant If ISOs and NQSOs are granted to an

employee who owns more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock the exercise price per share will be

not less than 110% of the fair market value on the date of grant

Options under the Plans may be granted for periods of up to ten years Any option granted shall be exercisable at such times

and under such conditions as determined by our Board and as permissible under the terms of the Plan Options generally vest at

the rate of 25% on the one year anniversary of the vesting commencement date and ratably over the next 36 months

summary of the stock option activity is presented below

Weighted

Number of Average

Shares Exercise

in thousands Price

Outstanding as of December 28 2007 3779 2.51

Granted 877 11.83

Forfeited 172 10.00

Exercised 866 0.85

Outstanding as of January 2009 3618 4.81

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29

2006 was approximately $8188000 $3212000 and $261000 respectively

During the fiscal
year

ended January 2009 we granted initial restricted stock units Restricted stock units granted under

the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan are either incentive or performance based awards that will result in payment to participant in

shares of our common stock The incentive based awards vest as the service conditions are met while the performance based

awards also have performance conditions as well as usual service conditions The plan administrator will determine the number of

shares and the conditions that must be satisfied which typically are based on achievement of performance milestones and service

conditions

Resthcted stock awards are measured at fair value based on the market price which is determined upon the closing price of

our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on the date of the grant
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summary of the restricted stock activity for the year ended January 2009 is presented below

Weighted

Average

Number of Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value

in thousands per Share

Outstanding as of December 28 2007

Granted 165 13.72

Forfeited 13.74

Vested

Outstanding as of January 2009 160 13.71

We estimate expected forfeitures based on our historical experience and recognize compensation cost over four-year

vesting period on straight-line basis Any performance based awards are recognized in earnings over the requisite service period

for each separately vesting protion of the award

The total unrecognized stock-based compensation for options and restricted stock awards granted accounted for under

SFAS No 123R was approximately $7954000 as of January 2009 These options had remaining weighted-average period

over which they are expected to be recognized of 2.9 years as of January 2009

The weighted average estimated values of stock option grants as well as the weighted average assumptions used in

calculating these values were based on estimates at the date of grant as follows

Fiscal Year Ended

January December 28 December 29
2009 2007 2006

Grant date fair value 5.73 5.07 1.95

Expected life in years 4.9 5.9 6.3

Risk free rate 3% 5% 5%

Volatility 55% 93% 116%

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Estimated forfeiture rate 10% 9% 10%

Prior to our initial public offering given the absence of an active market for our common stock our board of directors was

required to estimate the fair value of our common stock for purposes of determining stock-based compensation expense Our

board considered objective and subjective factors in determining the estimated value of our common stock on each option grant

date including the timing of the grant in relation to previous valuation dates the rights preferences and privileges of our

convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock our stage of development and revenue growth the hiring of key

personnel the likelihood of achieving liquidity event such as our initial public offering or sale for the shares of common stock

underlying the options given prevailing market conditions and valuations conducted by independent valuation consultants PCE
Valuation LLC The independent valuation firm used discounted cash flow approach to estimate the aggregate enterprise value

of our company at each valuation date during 2006 The discounted cash flow approach involves applying appropriate risk

adjusted discount rates to estimated debt-free cash flow based on forecasted revenues and costs The projections used in

connection with these valuations were based on contemporaneously prepared forecasts of our operating performance through the

year 2019

The independent valuation firm allocated the aggregate implied enterprise value that it estimated to the shares of preferred

stock common stock warrants for preferred stock and options for common stock using the option-pricing method at each

valuation date The option-pricing method involves making assumptions regarding the anticipated timing of potential liquidity

event such as an initial public offering estimates of the volatility of our equity securities and the risk free rate of interest

During 2006 we granted options to purchase our common stock at dates that generally fell between the dates of the

valuations performed by the independent valuation firm In those instances our board granted awards with an exercise price equal

to the per-share fair value determined by the most recent valuation In conjunction with preparing our financial statements we

estimated the fair value of our common stock underlying stock options on the dates of grant under SFAS No 123R We

retrospectively considered changes in business conditions between the dates of the independent party valuations received
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immediately prior to and subsequent to the grant date and utilized this information to interpolate an estimated per share value of

our common stock between those dates

From January 2006 to January 2007 the fair value of our common stock was determined using enterprise values based

on discounted cash flow approach The enterprise valuation was allocated between our various securities using the option-

pricing method For options granted on February 21 2007 the fair value of our common stock was determined using weighted

average of discounted cash flow comparable transactions and market comparables For the period of January 2006 through

March 30 2007 we used the simplified calculation of expected life described in the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff

Accounting Bulletin 107 and we estimated our stocks volatility based on an average of historical volatilities of the common stock

of several entities with characteristics similar to us For options granted after March 30 2007 and prior to our initial public

offering the fair value of our common stock was determined utilizing anticipated pricing of our initial public offering

After our initial public offering stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common

stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on the date of the grant Given our current public company status for stock options granted

after June 29 2007 we refined our pool of peer companies that reflect characteristics similar to us taking into account industry

trends market capitalization annual revenue option life and option vesting terms The risk-free rate is based on U.S Treasury

securities We estimated expected forfeitures based on our historical experience

The following table contains information about outstanding stock options at January 2009 in thousands except years

and per share data

Exercisable Options

Number of options 2035

Average exercise price 1.77

Aggregate intrinsic value 2096

Weighted average remaining contractual life 5.7 years

Outstanding Options

Number of options 3618

Average exercise price
4.81

Aggregate intrinsic value 2172

Weighted average remaining contractual life 7.0 years

10 Employee Benefit Plans

We maintain 401k plan for our employees The plan has provisions to allow for company matching We have chosen not

to exercise such provisions To be eligible to participate employees must be 21 years of age and are expected to work minimum

of 1000 hours during the year

We have bonus plans based on revenue and operating income goals which provide incentive compensation for certain

officers and employees Amounts charged to expense for such incentive compensation totaled approximately $541000

$1314000 and $661000 in fiscal years ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 respectively

11 Segment Information

We have determined that we operate in one reportable segment based on review of SFAS No 131 Disclosures about

Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information Characteristics of our operations in the designing marketing and selling of

fingerprint sensors to the biometric and security markets which are relied on in making and reviewing business decisions include

the similarities in our products the commonality of our customers across brands our unified marketing strategy and the nature of

the fmancial information used by our Executive Officers Our chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer

The following table is based on the geographic location of the original equipment manufacturers original design

manufacturer contract manufacturer or the distributors who purchased our products For sales to our distributors their geographic

location may be different from the geographic locations of the ultimate end customers Sales by geography for the periods

indicated were
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Fiscal Year Ended

January 2009 December 28 2007 December 29 2006

Revenue of Total Revenue of Total Revenue of Total

In thousands

Asia/Pacific 48709 76% 36379 69% 17127 52%

Japan 12459 19 12548 24 11515 35

United States 1649 2181 2676

Canada 1021 917 1431

Europe 110 319 425

63948 100% 52344 100% 33174 100%

%Intl 97% 96% 92%

Although significant portion of the revenue is from customers located outside of the United States all revenue is

denominated in U.S dollars

12 Senior Secured Convertible Notes

On February 28 2007 we issued $7.5 million of senior secured convertible notes the Notes due December 31 2010

secured by substantially all of our assets The Notes were purchased by several of our existing preferred stockholders Upon the

closing of our initial public offering the Notes and the associated accrued interest were converted into approximately 1260000

shares of common stock at rate of $6.00 per share The principal accrued interest and issuance costs were reclassified from

liability to equity

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures

as defined in Rule 3a- 15e of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act which have been

designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under

the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and ii recorded processed summarized and reported

within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC They concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures

were effective as of January 2009 to provide reasonable assurance of the achievement of these objectives

Managements Annual Report on Internal control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Rules 3a-1 5f and 5d- 15f under the Exchange Act Our internal control over financial reporting is process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Our internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of the assets of the Company

ii Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of

the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

Company and

iii Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitation internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate
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Our management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of January

2009 In making this assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control-Integrated Framework

Based upon our assessment and those criteria management has concluded that the Company maintained effective internal

control over financial reporting as of January 2009

The effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of January 2009 has been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP our independent registered certified public accounting firm who also audited our consolidated

financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as stated in their report which appears under Item

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended January 2009 that

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended January 2009

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended January 2009

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended January 2009

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended January 2009

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended January 2009
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a1 Financial Statements

The following is list of the Financial Statements included in Item of Part II of this Report

Page

Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm 45

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 2009 and December 28 2007 46

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 47

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity Deficit for the Period From December 31 2005 through January 2009 48

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended January 2009 December 28 2007 and December 29 2006 49

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 50

a2 Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not included herein are omitted because they are inapplicable or not required or because the required information is

given in the financial statements and notes thereto

SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFY1TG ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charges to Balance at

Beginning Cost and End of

of Period Expenses Deductions Period

In thousands

Year ended January 2009

Bad debt allowance 23 18 41

Income tax valuation allowance 20220 494 19726

Inventory valuation allowance 1110 422 25 1507

Year ended December 28 2007

Bad debt allowance 75 52 23

Income tax valuation allowance 21737 1517 20220

Inventory valuation allowance 520 590 1110

Year ended December 29 2006

Bad debt allowance 120 45 75

Income tax valuation allowance 18892 2845 21737

Inventory valuation allowance 177 343 520
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a3 Exhibits

The exhibits required by this item and included in this report or incorporated herein by reference are as follows

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

3.3 Amended and restated certificate of incorporation of AuthenTec Inc

3.4 Amended and restated bylaws of AuthenTec Inc

4.1 Specimen stock certificate for shares of common stock of AuthenTec Inc

4.3 Form of Preferred Stock Purchase Warrant

4.4 Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Series Preferred Stock

10.1 AuthenTec Inc 2004 Stock Incentive Plan as amended

10.2 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Stock Incentive Plan

10.3 Form of Non statutory Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Stock Incentive Plan

10.4 Form of directors and officers Indemnity Agreement

10.5 Office lease dated March 2004 by and between AuthenTec Inc and Maria Towers LLC

10.6 Commercial lease dated December 27 2006 by and between AuthenTec Inc and Rialto LLC

10.8 Employment Agreement dated March 21 2005 between AuthenTec Inc and Lawrence Ciaccia Jr

10.9 Employment Agreement dated November 13 2006 between AuthenTec Inc and Frederick Jorgenson

10.10 Employment Agreement dated December 12 2006 between AuthenTec Inc and Gary Larsen

10.11 Form of Change of Control Agreement

10.12 AuthenTec Inc 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

10.13 Form of Incentive Stock Option Grant Agreement under 2007 Stock Incentive

10.14 Form of Non statutory Stock Option Grant Agreement Plan under 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

10.15 Executive Employment Agreement dated June 2007 between Authenlec Inc and Scott Moody

10.16 Office lease dated March 2008 by and between AuthenTec Inc and Rialto LLC

10.17 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 22 2008 between AuthenTec Inc and Scott Moody

10.18 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 19 2008 between AuthenTec Inc and Lawrence Ciaccia Jr

10.19 Third Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 19 2008 between AuthenTec Inc and Frederick Jorgenson

10.20 Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 19 2008 between AuthenTec Inc and Gary Larsen

10.21 Amendment to Form of Change of Control Agreement Exec

21.1 Subsidiaries of AuthenTec Inc

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

23.2 Consent of PCE Valuation LLC

24.1 Power of Attorney included in signature pages

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Incorporated by reference to the companys Registration Statement on Form S-l File No 333-141348 effective June 26 2007

Incorporated by reference to the companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 2008
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

AUTHENTEC INC

By
Is Scott Moody

Scott Moody

Chief Executive Officer

Date March 18 2009

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and

appoints Scott Moody and Gary Larsen and each of them acting individually as his or her attorney-in-fact and agents each

with full power of substitution for him or her in his or her name place and stead in any and all capacities to sign any and all

amendments to this Annual Report and to file the same with all exhibits thereto and all other documents in connection therewith

with the SEC granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them full power and authority to do and perform each

and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in

person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them or his her or their substitute or

substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed by the following persons

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is Scott Moody

Scott Moody Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer March 18 2009

Principal Executive Officer

Is Gary Larsen

Gary Larsen Chief Financial Officer Principal Accounting and March 18 2009

Financial Officer

Is Chris Fedde
Director

Chris Fedde March 18 2009

Is Matthew Crugnale Director

Matthew Crugnale March 18 2009

Is Robert Grady
Director

Robert Grady March 18 2009

Is Gustav Koven III
Director

Gustav Koven March 18 2009

Is William Washecka
Director

William Washecka March 18 2009
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Exhibit 23.1

FIcEt447E11oLiDPERc

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

4221 West Boy Scout Boulevard

Suite 200

Tampe FL 33607

Telephone 813 229 0221

Facsimile 813 229 3646

www.pwc.com

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 No 333-144854 of AuthenTec Inc of our

report dated March 18 2009 relating to the fmancial statements financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal controls over

fmancial reporting which appears in this Form 10-K

Tampa Florida

March 18 2009



Exhibit 23.2

January 27 2009

Mr Scott Moody
AuthenTec Inc

100 Rialto Place Suite 400

Melbourne FL 32901

Subject WRITTEN CONSENT TO INCORPORATE BY REFERENCE REFERENCES TO PCE VALUATIONS LLC IN THE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT ON FORM S-8 OF AUTHENTEC INC

Dear Mr Moody

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of AuthenTec Inc on Form S-8 File No 333- 144854 of

references to ous valuations of AuthenTec Inc as of various dates relating to the estimation of the fair value of the common stock and

preferred stock of Authenlec Inc and to references to our firms name included in Authenlecs annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended January2 2009 However in giving such consent we do not admit that we come within the category of person whose consent is

required under Section or Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the rules and regulations adopted by the Securities and

Exchange Commission thereunder nor do we admit that we are experts with respect to any part of such Registration Statement within the

meaning of the term experts as used in the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission thereunder The responsibility for determining the fair value of the common stock and preferred stock as described in the annual

report rests solely with management and the Board of Directors of AuthenTec Inc and our valuation report was considered as part of its

analysis in reaching its conclusion as to such value

Sincerely

Robert Buchanan JD

Principal PCE Valuation LLC



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTiVE OFFICER

AUTHENTEC INC

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CHAPTER 98 TITLE 15 U.S.C SS 7241

Scott Moody certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AuthenTec Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact necessary

to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period

covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the fmancial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this

report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 5e and 5d-1 5e and internal controls over financial reporting as defmed in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us

by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over fmancial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fmancial reporting and the preparation of fmancial

statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such

evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected

or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent

function

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the registrants

internal controls over financial reporting

Date March 18 2009

Is Scott Moody

Scott Moody Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

AUTHENTEC DC
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CHAPTER 98 TITLE 15 U.S.C SS 7241

Gary Larsen certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AuthenTec Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact necessary
to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the fmancial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this

report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and l5d-15e and internal controls over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us

by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fmancial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such

evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected

or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent

function

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the registrants

internal controls over financial reporting

Date March 18 2009

Is Gary Larsen

Gary Larsen Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARRANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 the undersigned

hereby certifies that the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 2009 of AuthenTec Inc the Company fully complies

with the requirements of Section 13a or Section 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such

Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date March 18 2009

Is Scott Moody

Scott Moody Chief Executive Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 or other document authenticating acknowledging or otherwise

adopting the signature that
appears

in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906 has been

provided to AuthenTec Inc and will be retained by AuthenTec Inc and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff

upon request



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350 as adopted pursuant to Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 the undersigned

hereby certifies that the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended January 2009 of AuthenTec Inc the Company fully

complies with the requirements of Section 13a or Section 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained

in such Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date March 18 2009

/5/ Gary Larsen

Gary Larsen Chief Financial Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 or other document authenticating acknowledging or otherwise

adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906 has been

provided to AuthenTec Inc and will be retained by AuthenTec Inc and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff

upon request


